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Resolution of appointment
[bookmark: _Toc204593036][bookmark: _Toc205614613]In 1995 the Legislative Assembly for the Australian Capital Territory (‘the Assembly’) amended Standing Order 16, which established the Standing Committee on Administration and Procedure (‘the Committee’).
[bookmark: _Toc204593037][bookmark: _Toc205614614]Standing Order 16 authorises the Committee to inquire into and report on, among other things, the practices and procedure of the Assembly. 

[bookmark: _Toc162949739][bookmark: _Toc170711049][bookmark: _Toc341433422][bookmark: _Toc341687866][bookmark: _Toc422408847]Terms of reference
Continuing resolution 5AA

[bookmark: _Toc400441633][bookmark: _Toc400442546]COMMISSIONER FOR STANDARDS

This resolution provides for the appointment of a Legislative Assembly Commissioner of Standards.

Resolution agreed by the Assembly
31 October 2013

COMMISSIONER FOR STANDARDS
That this Assembly requests the Speaker to appoint a Legislative Assembly Commissioner for Standards on the following terms:
1. The Speaker must, after each Assembly is elected or whenever the office becomes vacant, appoint a Commissioner for the life of that Assembly and the period of three months after each election.  The initial appointment is for the term of the 8th Assembly and the period of three months after the election at the conclusion of that term.
Before appointing a Commissioner, the Speaker must consult with the Chief Minister, the Leader of the Opposition and Crossbench Members.
The Commissioner may be dismissed only following a resolution of the Legislative Assembly resolving to require the Speaker to end the Commissioner’s appointment—
(a) for misbehaviour; or 
(b) for physical or mental incapacity, if the incapacity substantially affects the exercise of the Commissioner’s functions.
However, a motion for such a resolution may only be debated after the Standing Committee on Administration and Procedure (‘the Committee’) has reported to the Assembly that it is satisfied that the Commissioner is unfit for the office or unable to fulfil the Commissioner’s functions.
1. The functions of the Commissioner are to:
(a) investigate specific matters referred to the Commissioner—
(i) by the Speaker in relation to complaints against Members; or
(ii) by the Deputy Speaker in relation to complaints against the Speaker; and
(b) report to the Standing Committee on Administration and Procedure.
Members of the public, members of the ACT Public Service and Members of the Assembly may make a complaint to the Speaker about a Member’s compliance with the Members’ Code of Conduct or the rules relating to the registration or declaration of interests. 
If the Speaker receives a complaint about a Member pursuant to paragraph (5) and the Speaker believes on reasonable grounds that—
(c) there is sufficient evidence as to justify investigating the matter; and
(d) the complaint is not frivolous, vexatious or only for political advantage;
the Speaker may refer the complaint to the Commissioner for investigation and report.
Members of the public, members of the ACT public service and Members of the Assembly may make a complaint to the Deputy Speaker about the Speaker’s compliance with the Members’ Code of Conduct or the rules relating to the registration or declaration of interests.
If the Deputy Speaker receives a complaint about the Speaker pursuant to paragraph (7) and the Deputy Speaker believes on reasonable grounds that—
(e) there is sufficient evidence to justify investigating the matter; and
(f) the complaint is not frivolous, vexatious or only for political advantage;
the Deputy Speaker may refer the complaint to the Commissioner for investigation and report.
In exercising the functions of Commissioner the following must be observed:
(g) The Commissioner must not make a report to the Committee if the Member or the Speaker about whom the complaint was made has agreed that he or she has failed to register or declare an interest if —
(i) in the Commissioner’s opinion the interest involved is minor or the failure was inadvertent; and
(ii) the Member concerned has taken such action to rectify the failure as the Commissioner may have required within any procedure approved by the Committee for this purpose.
(h) The Commissioner must not make a report to the Committee unless the Commissioner has—
(i) given a copy of the proposed report to the Member or the Speaker who is the subject of the complaint under investigation;
(ii) the Member or the Speaker has had a reasonable time to provide comments on the proposed report; and
(iii) the Commissioner has considered any comments provided by the Member or the Speaker.
(i) The Commissioner must report by 31 August each year to the Speaker on the exercise of the functions of the Commissioner.
The Committee must review the operation of the Commissioner after two years following the initial appointment of the Commissioner and report to the Assembly in the first sitting period in 2016.

Continuing resolution 5
[bookmark: _Toc194383153][bookmark: _Toc194383239][bookmark: _Toc194383404][bookmark: _Toc400441632][bookmark: _Toc400442545]CODE OF CONDUCT 
FOR ALL MEMBERS OF THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY 
FOR THE AUSTRALIAN CAPITAL TERRITORY

This resolution provides for a code of conduct for Members of the Legislative Assembly.

Resolution agreed by the Assembly
25 August 2005 (amended 16 August 2006, 24 October 2013)

CODE OF CONDUCT FOR ALL MEMBERS OF THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY FOR THE AUSTRALIAN CAPITAL TERRITORY
The Members of the Legislative Assembly for the Australian Capital Territory acknowledge that, in a parliamentary democracy they cannot command, but must constantly strive to earn and maintain, the respect and support of those who have elected them to their positions of honour and privilege as Members. 
In committing to this Code of Conduct, Members undertake, to the community and to one another, that the following principles shall guide their conduct as Members in all matters: 
1. Members should at all times act with integrity, honesty and diligence. 
Members should act only in the interests of, and with respect for, the people of the Australian Capital Territory and in conformity with all laws applicable in the Territory.
Members should always act in the public interest, make decisions and choices on merit, and not seek to gain financial or other benefit for themselves, their family or friends. 
Members should be reasonably accessible to the people of the electorate they have been elected to serve, and should represent their interests conscientiously. 
Members should be transparent in, and accountable for, their decisions and actions, should avoid or appropriately resolve any actual or reasonably perceived conflicts of interest and should submit themselves to appropriate scrutiny. 
Members should make only proper use of those public resources to which they have access.
Members should respect the dignity and privacy of individuals, and not disclose confidential information to which they have official access other than with consent or as permitted by law. 
Members should observe proper standards of parliamentary conduct, and observe respect for differences and fairness in their political dealings. 
Members should promote and support these principles by leadership and example, in order to maintain and support public trust and confidence in the integrity of the Assembly and the conduct by its Members of public business. 
Consistent with the above principles, Members further undertake that they should: 
Actively seek to prevent any conflict of interest, or the perception of such a conflict, arising between their duties as a Member and their personal affairs and interests, take all reasonable steps to resolve any such conflict or perception of a conflict that does arise, and:
(a) comply with section 15 of the Australian Capital Territory (Self‑Government) Act 1988 (Cwth);
(b) declare their pecuniary interests and ensure that their declaration is kept up to date pursuant to the resolution of the Assembly ‘Declaration of Private Interests of Members’ agreed to on 7 April 1992 (as amended or replaced from time to time). Include in the Member’s Statement of Registrable Interests all gifts, payments, fees, rewards or benefits valued at more than $100 received in connection with the Member’s functions as a Member; and
(c) disclose in a manner appropriate to the circumstances any other financial or non-financial interest that they may hold, or which they may be reasonably perceived to hold (other than as a member of the public or of a broad class of persons) which a reasonable observer, informed of that interest, might perceive as giving rise to a conflict of interest with the performance of the Member’s duty as a Member. 
Not solicit to undertake, or undertake, any activity as a Member in return for the provision, promise or expectation of any improper benefit to the Member or to another person. 
Take care to consider the rights and reputations of others before making use of their unique protection of parliamentary privilege consistent with the resolution of the Assembly ‘Exercise of freedom of speech’ agreed to on 4 May 1995 (as amended or replaced from time to time).
Not use information received by them as a Member that is not in the public domain in breach of any obligation of confidence applicable to their receipt of that information, or improperly for the private benefit of themselves or another person. 
In their capacity as an employer on behalf of the Territory under the Legislative Assembly (Members’ Staff) Act 1989: 
(d) familiarise themselves and comply with the terms and conditions on which their personal staff are engaged and with all applicable policies and practices (including those related to occupational health and safety, discrimination, harassment and bullying, equal employment opportunity and use of information technology);
(e) not employ a family member as defined in that Act;
(f) direct their personal staff to be mindful of the Member’s commitment to this Code of Conduct, and to assist the Member to comply with this Code of Conduct; and
(g) direct their personal staff to comply with any code of conduct applicable to those staff from time to time. 
In all their dealings with staff of the Assembly and members of the ACT Public Service:
(h) extend professional courtesy and respect; and
(i) recognise the unique position of impartiality and the obligations of Public Service officials. 
Only make a complaint about the compliance of another Member with this Code of Conduct where they believe there are reasonable grounds to suspect non-compliance and not make any such complaint that is frivolous or vexatious or only for political advantage.
Cooperate fully with any official inquiry that may be commenced in connection with their compliance with this Code of Conduct, or that of another Member.
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Recommendation 1
	That no further action be taken in relation to this matter. 
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1. [bookmark: _Toc422408849]Introduction
On 23 February 2015 Mr Jeremy  Hanson MLA wrote to the Speaker to claim that Ms Joy Burch MLA had breached sections 3, 5, 9 and 10 of the Members’ Code of Conduct (see Appendix A). The matter was referred to the Commissioner for Standards, the Honourable Dr Ken Crispin QC, by the Speaker of the Legislative Assembly, Mrs Vicki Dunne MLA on 26 February 2015 (see Appendix B).
The Standing Committee on Administration and Procedure has now received a report from the Commissioner for Standards on his investigation into a complaint raised by Mr Hanson.
A copy of the Commissioner’s findings is published as Appendix C to this report. 
1. [bookmark: _Toc93834242][bookmark: _Toc341431891][bookmark: _Toc422408850]Conduct of the Commissioner’s inquiry
The Commissioner wrote to Ms Burch MLA, Mr Martin Fisk (CEO Menslink), Mr Hanson MLA and an officer of Menslink, Mr Neale Roberts. He also received a brief of a report by Rear Admiral Clarke, the then chair of Menslink. Having considered all of that material he drafted a report which he sent to Ms Burch. The Commissioner considered the response of Ms Burch and then forwarded a copy of his report to this Committee. 
1. [bookmark: _Toc422408851]The Commissioner’s Findings
The Commissioner found as follows:
		132	The complaint raised potentially serious issues about the conduct of the Minister who holds high offices in the Australian Capital Territory. In my opinion, there was sufficient evidence to warrant referral of the matter for an independent investigation. However, that investigation has now been completed and, after examining the issues raised, I have formed the view that no breach of the Minister’s duty has been substantiated.
		133	I recommend that the complaint be dismissed.
1. [bookmark: _Toc422408852]The Committee’s Recommendation
The Committee, in accordance with continuing resolution 5AA, has considered the Commissioner’s report and concurs with his conclusion. 
The Committee therefore recommends:
RECOMMENDATION 1
	That no further action be taken in relation to this matter. 
The Committee has chosen to publish the Commissioner’s report in full as an appendix to this report, but has decided not to publish the appendices to the Commissioner’s report as the Committee considered some of the content to be outside the scope of the issue before the Committee.



Vicki Dunne MLA
Chair
     June 2015
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REPORT INTO A COMPLAINT AGAINST MS JOY BURCH MLA

BACKGROUND

1. On 12 February 2015 the Canberra Times reported that the youth mentoring organisation, Menslink, had been fined $2,500 for allowing Mr Lloyd Burch to enter a number of high schools without a Working with Vulnerable People Registration Card (‘WWVP Card’). This had occurred as part of Menslink’s ‘Silence is Deadly’ program which is intended to encourage young men to speak about personal problems and hence reduce the incidence of suicide. Mr Burch had then been on bail and awaiting sentencing on a charge of aggravated robbery to which he had pleaded guilty on 9 April 2014. 

2. Mr Burch is the son of Ms Joy Burch MLA (‘the Minister’) who at all relevant times was the ACT Minister for Education and Training and held several other portfolios. 

3. Menslink, is a name used by Men’s Link Incorporated, a charitable association with the avowed mission of promoting ‘the value, well-being and social participation of men, in particular young men, by providing appropriate and professional services with outreach activities’.

4. The article in the Canberra Times went on to reveal that when the case was again before the court in October, 2014 the judge, who had earlier given Mr Burch ‘a chance to turn his life around’, had proceeded to impose a suspended sentence. In doing so, he noted that Mr Burch had gone beyond compliance with the ‘deferred sentence order’ and worked in schools with Menslink, where he had ‘shared his experiences with the deterioration of his life through drug abuse with students’.  Rear Admiral Peter Clarke, who then chaired the board of Menslink was quoted as saying that he and the other members of the Board had been ‘absolutely aghast’ at the discovery of Mr Burch’s conviction.

5. The judgment of Justice Burns confirms that on 9 April 2014 he convicted Mr Burch of an offence of aggravated robbery and imposed a deferred sentence order requiring      Mr Burch to again appear in the Supreme Court for sentencing. He was released on bail subject to the following conditions:

(a)        that he was to reside at a nominated address which was his parents’ address;

(b)       that he was to abstain from the consumption of alcohol and illicit substances;

(c)       that he was to accept the supervision of ACT Adult Corrections and to obey all lawful directions of officers of that service, including any directions to attend counselling or treatment for substance abuse or mental health issues;

(d)       that he was to undergo random urinalysis as directed by Corrective Services;

(e)       that he was to provide a sample of his breath when requested by members of the police; and

(f)        that he was not to approach within 100 metres of the Ali Baba restaurant in Phillip in the Australian Capital Territory (ACT), where the offence occurred. 

6. When the hearing resumed on 23 October 2014 Justice Burns sentenced Mr Burch to a term of two years and six months’ imprisonment, which was wholly suspended, and imposed a good behaviour order for a period of two years, subject to certain conditions. In explaining the reasons for the sentence, Justice Burns said that:

2.         The material which has now been placed before me demonstrates that the prisoner has complied with all of the requirements of the Deferred Sentence Order which I imposed in April.  He has indeed gone beyond the requirements of that Order.  He has attended Menslink, a charity that supports young men in the ACT, and has participated in a program at schools provided by Menslink in which he has shared his experiences with the deterioration of his life through drug abuse with students at those schools.  The material that I have from Menslink speaks of the fact that this has proved to be remarkably effective in getting the message across to the students that have been addressed by the prisoner. 

3.         He has also attended Directions ACT in relation to substance abuse.  He has ceased drug use, as has been demonstrated by random urinalysis.  His parents have noticed a dramatic change in his presentation and his attitude, and I accept they are in the best position to judge that matter.  I also note that he is studying and that he plans to complete his electrical apprenticeship and then to undertake an engineering course at university. 

4.         It is not often that people who are given an opportunity to demonstrate their 
willingness to turn their lives around, in the way the prisoner was given an opportunity on this occasion, respond with the same degree of enthusiasm and success as the present prisoner.  He must, of course, keep very clearly at the forefront of his mind that this is only the beginning and that he must maintain the commitment which he has demonstrated so far.  It is very easy, indeed all too easy, to slip back into old habits.  However, I think that I can now have some confidence that the prisoner has turned a corner in his life, to use a cliché which is sometimes misused in these courts, and that it is unlikely that he will reoffend. 

7. Mr Burch wrote to the Office of Regulatory Services on 12 December 2014 explaining his involvement with Menslink. 

8. Whilst Mr Burch’s activities are obviously relevant to the issues I am required to examine, they are not the focus of my investigation and any findings I make concerning his conduct should not be seen as involving any view about his conduct or character. I am concerned only with the complaint against his mother.

9. Subsequent press articles suggested that the Minister had failed to explain her son’s role in the ‘Silence is Deadly’ program and raised questions whether she had exerted any influence over Menslink or otherwise facilitated his involvement. Questions were also asked about the circumstances in which the Chief Executive Officer of Menslink, Mr Martin Fisk, had provided references for Mr Burch in April and September last year. 

THE COMPLAINT

10. The complaint was contained in a letter from the Leader of the Opposition, Mr Jeremy Hanson CSC MLA, to the Speaker of the Legislative Assembly, Ms Vicki Dunne MLA dated 23 February 2015. Copies of various media reports were enclosed. The letter included a further complaint against another Member of the Assembly but that was not referred to me by the Speaker and for present purposes must be disregarded.

11. The complaint against the Minister was understandably expressed in broad terms. It raised a number of general issues, including the extent, if any, to which she may have influenced Menslink to help her son and her knowledge of his visits to ACT schools and of any breaches of the relevant legislation. In essence, it alleged that:

Without excluding breaches of the criminal code or more extensive breaches of the Code of Conduct, it appears that sections 3, 5, 9 and 10 of the Code of Conduct have been breached.

12. The complaint was referred to me by the Speaker by letter dated 26 February 2015.

THE CODE OF CONDUCT

13. The Code of Conduct for all Members of the Legislative Assembly of the Australian Capital Territory (‘the Code of Conduct’) contains a succinct statement of agreed principles intended to guide the conduct of Members. The principles to which the Leader of the Opposition referred in the complaint are as follows:

(3)	Members should always act in the public interest, make decisions and choices on merit, and not seek to gain financial or other benefit for themselves, their family or friends.

(5)	Members should be transparent in, and accountable for, their decisions and actions, should avoid or appropriately resolve any actual or reasonably perceived conflicts of interest and should submit themselves to appropriate scrutiny.

(9)	Members should promote and support these principles by leadership and example, in order to maintain and support public trust and confidence in the integrity of the Assembly and the conduct by its Members of public business.

Consistent with the above principles, Members further undertake that they should:

(10)	Actively seek to prevent any conflict of interest, or the perception of such a conflict, arising between their duties as a Member and their personal affairs and interests, take all reasonable steps to resolve any such conflict or perception of a conflict that does arise …
14. There are other potentially relevant sections including section (1) that records the perhaps self-evident but nonetheless fundamental principle that Members of the Assembly should at all times act with integrity, honesty and diligence.

THE NATURE OF THE INVESTIGATION

15. Since this is the first occasion upon which a Commissioner for Standards has dealt with a complaint of this kind in the Australian Capital Territory, it might be appropriate for me to make some observations about the nature of the investigation I am required to undertake.

16. The role of the Commissioner is limited to investigating the matters referred to him or her by the Speaker and reporting to the Standing Committee on Administration and Procedure (‘the Committee’). It is for the Committee to determine whether the complaint has been substantiated in any respect and, if so, what consequences should ensue.

17. The investigation is inquisitorial rather than judicial in nature. Hence the Commissioner is obliged to initiate inquiries and actively try to establish the relevant facts, unlike a judge who generally hears only the evidence that the opposing parties choose to present. The scope of the investigation may also be somewhat more elastic than that of a trial since there are no pleadings of the kind used in civil cases to identify and narrow the range of issues before the hearing. The possibility of further issues emerging as the investigation proceeds cannot be wholly excluded, though the investigation must obviously remain focussed on the complaint. The Commissioner cannot pursue unrelated questions that emerge from the material examined, even if interesting and of potential public importance. 

18. As I have no adjudicative role, any issues about the standard of proof that should be applied in relation to complaints of this nature are ultimately matters for the Committee. However, since my report is intended to assist the Committee, I have taken the view that I should record my own impressions of the evidence and express my own opinion as to whether it is capable of substantiating any aspects of the complaint. 

19. In legal proceedings a matter is said to be substantiated only when the party with the onus of proving the relevant facts has established them to the required legal standard. Since I am not hearing a legal action, but merely enquiring into what may have occurred, neither the Leader of the Opposition nor anyone else bears an onus of proving anything. On the other hand, the very concept of substantiation involves the proposition that the relevant matter has been established to some level of satisfaction. The approach usually followed in cases involving suggested breaches of non-criminal codes of conduct is to adopt the so-called ‘civil’ standard of proof on the balance of probabilities, though the strength of the evidence necessary to establish the relevant facts even to that standard may vary according to the nature of what is alleged. As Dixon J. commented in Briginshaw v. Briginshaw ((7) (1938) 60 CLR, at p 362 “the seriousness of an allegation made, the inherent unlikelihood of an occurrence of a given description, or the gravity of the consequences flowing from a particular finding are considerations which must affect the answer to the question whether the issue has been proved.’ (See also Neat Holdings Pty Ltd v Karajan Holdings Pty Ltd [1992] HCA 66 Mason C.J., Brennan, Deanery and Gaudron JJ at paragraph 2).

20. Of course, the Committee is free to determine the relevant issues as it seems fit but, in the absence of some indication that it intends to adopt a more stringent standard, I have assumed that it is likely to adopt the usual approach taken in relation to such matters. Accordingly, I have borne in mind the need to consider whether evidence revealed by the investigation would be likely to be accepted by the Committee as substantiating any aspect of the complaint to that standard. 

THE CONDUCT OF THE INVESTIGATION 

21. The investigation was conducted in accordance with the protocol adopted by the Committee on 24 March 2015. The protocol notes that:

It is the Commissioner’s intention to rely upon written material and not to hold any face to face discussions or otherwise receive oral evidence unless such a course proves necessary for the fair and satisfactory completion of a particular investigation.

22. In the interests of transparency, I have annexed copies of all of the relevant documentation received during the course of the investigation. 

23. Having regard to the broad nature of the complaint, I took the view that it was necessary to identify some potential issues, if only to ensure that submissions had a common focus and covered all or most of the matters likely to be relevant. Hence, whilst those contacted were advised that they were free to make any submissions they saw fit, they were also asked to address the following issues:

· The circumstances in which the Minister’s son, Mr Lloyd Burch, came to visit a number of schools, including some conducted by the ACT Education and Training Directorate and falling within her portfolio as Minister for Education on various occasions last year.

· When those visits occurred.

· Whether, Mr Burch had a legal obligation to become registered under the Working with Vulnerable People (Background Checking) Act 2011 (‘the Act’) before engaging in a ‘regulated activity’ such as visiting schools of this nature.

· If so, whether at the time of some or all of those visits the Minister knew that registration was required by the Act. 

· Whether at the time of some or all of those visits she was aware that her son had not been registered under the Act.

· Whether those visits were facilitated by Mr Fisk or some other person holding a position of authority with Menslink.

· Whether the Minister asked Mr Fisk or any other person associated with that group to arrange such visits or did anything else to facilitate them.

· Whether, by doing so, she was complicit in an offence against the Act.

· When she first became aware that such visits were to occur or were occurring.

· Whether she took any action upon becoming aware that the visits may have involved breaches of the Act and, if so, what action.

· Whether, irrespective of any statutory requirement, it was inappropriate for her son to be permitted to visit government schools whilst he was on bail for a serious criminal charge.

· Whether she at at any time consulted the ACT Ethics and Integrity Advisor or any other person about the propriety of such visits and, if so, whether she followed any advice that she may have been given.

· Whether she asked Mr Fisk to provide references for her son and, if so, the time when each such request was made.

· The suggested inconsistency between statements attributed to her in your complaint, namely the visits ‘were entirely between Menslink and my son’ and ‘I approached the CEO on behalf of my son’.

· What, if any, explanations she gave to the Assembly and the adequacy of those explanations.

24. On 4 March I wrote to the Minister advising her of the complaint and inviting her to submit  a written response to the complaint by the close of business on 25 March 2015. The letter specified the issues that I had identified as being potentially relevant. I also wrote to Mr Fisk, advising him of the complaint, identifying certain issues on which I thought he may be able to shed some light and asking him to provide any relevant information. A further letter was sent to the Leader of the Opposition advising him that I had written to the Minister, mentioning the issues I had identified as potentially relevant and inviting him to provide me with any further information that he thought might be relevant.

25. The Leader of the Opposition responded by letter dated 13 March 2015, indicating that the issues I had identified appeared to be consistent with the questions that had been asked in the public domain and that he believed had not been satisfactorily answered. He also provided some extracts from Hansard.

26. The Minister responded by letter dated 17 March advising me that she had sought legal advice and might need an extension of time to submit written responses to the complaint.

27. Mr Fisk responded by letter dated 20 March 2015.

28. On 24 March I received a letter from Mr Paul Vane-Tempest, a partner in the legal firm Ashurst Australia, informing me that the firm now acted for the Minister and requesting an extension of time for the provision of a written submission until 13 April 2015. I acceded to that request and also to a subsequent request for a further extension until 19 April 2015.

29. I was subsequently informed that another officer of Menslink, Mr Neale Roberts, wished to make a submission concerning the complaint and wrote to him by letter dated 4 April 2015.

30. On 17 April 2015 I received a letter from Ashurst Australia containing detailed submissions on behalf of the Minister and enclosing various documents.

31. On the same day, I received an email from Mr Roberts enclosing a written submission to me and a copy of an earlier complaint he had made to the Board of Menslink. I sent a copy of those documents to Ashurst Australia to provide an opportunity for further submissions to be made on the Minister’s behalf in reply to any of the issues Mr Roberts had raised.

32. On 19 April I sent a copy of the submissions that had been made on the Minister’s behalf to the Leader of the Opposition to give him the opportunity of commenting on them. He replied with another short submission on 29 April 2015.

33. Further submissions were duly received from Ashurst Australia on 1 May 2014 relating to an issue raised by Mr Roberts who had said that Mr Fisk had been contacted, apparently by someone from the Minister for Women’s office and invited to submit a late nomination by Menslink for a ‘Partners in Prevention’ award. Mr Roberts said that Menslink won the award two days after the nomination was submitted and it was presented by the Minister. In the further submissions made on her behalf, the Minister denied the implicit allegation that she or someone in her office had suggested that Menslink should apply for that or any other award and explained that the ‘Partners in Prevention’ awards are facilitated by the Office of Women within  the Community Services Department. The award was apparently presented in December 2014, well after Mr Burch had been sentenced, and Mr Roberts’ understanding of the invitation appears to have been dependent upon at least third hand hearsay. The issue is not directly relevant to the complaint I am required to investigate and the Leader of the Opposition did not refer to it in his response to Mr Roberts’ submissions. In the circumstances, I took the view that the issue did not warrant further investigation.

34. On 1 May 2015 the Leader of the Opposition informed me that an investigation into the circumstances in which Mr Burch had been permitted to visit schools with Menslink staff  had been conducted by Rear Admiral Clarke and that he had prepared a report which had been provided to the Office of Regulatory Services but not otherwise released. I immediately requested a copy of the report but Mr Michael Battenally, who had replaced Rear Admiral Clarke as chair of the board, indicated that he was concerned about the possibility of the document being publicly disclosed and an exchange of emails and some discussion by telephone ensued. A copy of the report, or ‘brief’ as the document was described by Rear Admiral Clarke, was finally received on 14 May. The brief has been slightly redacted to omit the names of some staff members.

35. The sentencing remarks of Justice Burns and the Menslink rules and manual are available online.

36. Viewed overall, the evidence provided by the various submissions I have received seems to disclose the relevant facts with reasonably clarity. There is no evidence to suggest that the Minister had any direct contact with anyone associated with Menslink other than Mr Fisk concerning her son’s involvement with that organisation and, since no relevant and substantial factual disputes emerged, it has proved unnecessary to hold face to face discussions or receive oral evidence.

37. A draft report was sent to Ashurst Australia on 20 May 2015, a response was received on 27 May 2015 and comments made on behalf of the Minister have been duly considered.

MR BURCH’S INVOLVEMENT WITH MENSLINK

38. The Minister’s submissions explain that she had discussed her son’s predicament with him during the course of his involvement with the criminal justice system and that she had encouraged him to become involved with Menslink as she thought this would offer him hope and support. She had known Mr Fisk in a professional capacity since 2011 and had attended several functions organised by Menslink, including one on 5 December 2012 at which she launched the ‘Silence is Deadly’ program. 

39. Her son accompanied her to the Multicultural Festival in February 2014 and proceeded to collect money for Menslink. It was also at this function that he first met Mr Fisk. 

40. Mr Burch again collected money for Menslink at a Rugby match in March 2014.

41. Mr Fisk provided a reference for him on 7 April 2014, mentioning the support he had displayed in collecting money on those occasions and indicating that Menslink was willing to provide counselling and support for him. 

42. In his submission, Mr Fisk said that he contacted Mr Burch again after reading of his conviction in a report published in the Canberra Times. He subsequently discussed the ‘Silence is Deadly’ program with him at a meeting on 28 April 2014. 

43. This program addresses the apparent reluctance of young men to seek help when they experience emotional problems and other difficulties. It involves school visits by counsellors, sportsmen and young men who have themselves battled with personal problems and volunteered to speak about their experiences in the hope of helping others. The Menslink website suggests that young men suffer from depression and anxiety at about the same rate as young women but are less willing discuss to their problems. This reticence means that the problems often remain unaddressed and hence expose young men to greater risk of suicide.

44. Mr Fisk said in his submission that where possible, Menslink uses men with ‘lived experience’ as this has proven most effective in delivering Menslink’s key messages to students. He asked Mr Burch to take part in the school visits because he believed that his story would resonate with male students and help them avoid making poor life choices. He also thought that it would give him an opportunity to pay his debt to the community and help him ‘turn his life around’. Mr Burch agreed to become a volunteer. Arrangements were subsequently made for Mr Burch to participate in a number of visits to schools in the ACT and to speak to various groups of students.

45. Mr Fisk was clearly impressed with Mr Burch’s conduct and on 1 September 2014 he wrote a second reference for him.

THE SCHOOL VISITS

46. Mr Fisk candidly conceded that each of the subsequent school visits was facilitated by him or others acting with his full knowledge. Mr Roberts agreed that the visits were facilitated by Mr Fisk and added that he had included Mr Burch on invitation lists to attend schools when booking sessions for the ‘Silence is Deadly’ program without knowing that he had been convicted of a serious offence and lacked a WWVP Card.

47. There is no evidence to suggest that the Minister had any involvement in the arrangements for her son to attend the individual schools.

48. Mr Fisk offered to provide details of the Menslink staff members who attended on each of these occasions. Since there had been no suggestion that the Minister had ever spoken to any of them and no issue had been raised about anything that occurred during those visits other than Mr Burch’s presence, I took the view that this was unnecessary.

49. Mr Fisk provided a list indicating that Mr Burch had participated in visits to the following schools on the dates specified:

14 May 2014		Canberra High School
28 May 2014		Blue Gum Community School
  5 June 2014		Lanyon High School
13 June 2014		Queanbeyan High School
18 June 2014		Amaroo High School
  2 July 2014		Carolyn Chisholm High School
23 July 2014		Daramalan College
30 July 2014		Namadgi School
30 July 2014		Mary MacKillop College
20 August 2014		John Paul II College
28 October 2014		St Edmunds College

50. Queanbeyan High School is, of course, located in NSW but the other ten schools are within the ACT.

51. In his submission, Mr Roberts referred to the visits to Daramalan College on 23 July and Mary Mackillop College  on 30 July, but suggested that Mr Burch had also visited Canberra Grammar School on 13 August and Erindale College on 24 September. He did not mention a visit to John Paul II College but said that he was aware of a visit to St Edmunds College in November 2014. He understood that there had been ten such visits in all.

52. I am unable to resolve these discrepancies with any real confidence, though it is possible that Mr Fisk was unaware of the visits to Daramalan College and Mary Mackillop College and, conversely that Mr Roberts was unaware of the visit to John Paul College. For present purposes it is sufficient to note that there seems to have been at least ten visits to ACT schools.

THE NEED FOR REGISTRATION

53. WWVP Cards are  issued under section 49 of the Working with Vulnerable People (Background Checking) Act) 2011 (’the Act’) to all who become registered under section 41. The real question is whether Mr Burch was required to be registered. 

54. The Act has been subject to some amendment since initially enacted but at all relevant times section 12 provided that a person was required to be registered to engage in a ‘regulated activity.’ That term that was defined to include any activity or service mentioned in schedule 1 and paragraph 1.4 of that schedule provided that:

	(1)	An activity or service is a regulated activity if the activity is conducted, or the service is provided, as part of a child education service.
	(2)	In this section:
child education service—
	(a)	means a service for which the main purpose is to provide education and care for children; and
	(b)	includes—
	(i)	a school or other educational institution, whether or not operated by or on behalf of the Territory; and
	(ii)	a school-crossing service.
school means a preschool, primary school, high school or secondary college.

55. Accordingly, the visits made to schools by Mr Burch were ‘regulated activities’ and the requirements for registration applied.

56. It is an offence to engage in regulated activities in breach of the requirements for registration (see section 13 of the Act).

57. Mr Roberts was critical of Menslink for making public statements to the effect that an administrative error had led to Mr Burch being allowed to enter schools on more than 7 occasions in a 12 month period. He maintained that it was clear from the legislation that he had required a Card to enter a school even once. I have no reason to doubt that he believed this to be true. However, the Act does provide some exceptions to the general requirement for registration. In particular, a person is not required to be registered if engaged in the relevant activity (other than an overnight camp for children) for not more than 3 days in any 4-week period or 7 days in any 12-month period [see section 12(2)(b)]. 

58. Accordingly, no offence would have been committed had Mr Burch made no more than seven visits to schools in the ACT without being registered. Unfortunately, that was not the case. Since there were  at least ten visits to ACT schools, registration was clearly required. 

59. In his letter of 12 December 2014 Mr Burch said that he had not been deliberately avoiding the ‘checking requirements’ that must be met for registration and offered the following explanation:

Shortly after I started volunteering with Menslink for the Silence is Deadly program Menslink provided me with Working with Vulnerable People Check guidelines and forms. At this point I didn’t know how often I was going to be asked to attend  a school visit and didn’t really expect to be asked very often. I also thought that given the short period of time I was at a school and that I was at all times supervised that I fell within the category of not needing a Working with Vulnerable People card.

He added that he had not kept track of the number of visits he had made to schools and that he had not fully understood the requirements.

60. Of course, neither a misunderstanding of the legal requirements nor a failure to keep track of the number of visits undertaken offer any defence to charges under section 13 of the Act. Hence, it seems clear that he committed at least three breaches of the Act by repeatedly engaging in a regulated activity without being registered. 

61. In making this observation, I would not wish to be taken to be suggesting that he bore the sole or even predominant responsibility for these breaches. He was a young man, struggling with serious personal problems and the prospect of being sent to prison, and he was participating in the visits as part of a well established community program run by people whom he would have been entitled to assume were well aware of the legal requirements governing entry to schools. The board of Menslink rightly accepted responsibility for their complicity in these breaches of the Act by reporting the matter to the Office of Regulatory Services and subsequently paying the fine. His visits should have been duly recorded and there should have been a system in place to ensure that neither he nor any other volunteer were permitted to continue in circumstances involving an offence under the Act.

62. I should also note that there has been no suggestion that Mr Burch was guilty of any misconduct during the school visits. On the contrary, Mr Fisk said that his behaviour had been ‘exemplary’ and that he had treated staff, fellow volunteers and students with respect.

THE MINISTER’S INVOLVEMENT

63. It has not been suggested that the Minister’s decision to encourage her son to become involved with Menslink itself involved any breach of her ethical obligations and in my opinion no such allegation could have been sustained. There is nothing in the Code of Conduct to suggest that Members of the Assembly should withhold parental advice or encouragement to seek to seek access to rehabilitation or mentoring services available to other members of the community.

64. The main issue raised by the complaint is whether she went beyond the provision of that advice and influenced Mr Fisk or others associated with Menslink to include her son in visits to schools when she knew that other young men in a similar situation would probably have been excluded and/or that his participation was likely to involve breaches of the Act. 

The direct evidence

65. The Minister maintains that neither she nor her staff approached Mr Fisk or any other  representative of Menslink to suggest that her son be involved in school based programs. She insists that the relevant arrangements were made by Mr Fisk on his own initiative and followed discussions with her son to which she had not been party. 

66. Her evidence to this effect is supported by Mr Fisk whose submission includes the statement that:

Ms Burch did not ask me or anyone at Menslink (staff or volunteer) to facilitate the school visits. Mr Burch’s school visits were initiated and organised solely by Menslink and not at the request of Ms Burch. 

67. Her evidence is also consistent with the account given by her son in his letter of 14 December 2014 to the Office of Regulatory Services. The weight that should be given to this evidence may be limited by the family relationship and his own involvement in the relevant events, though the letter was written before any public controversy emerged about any role that his mother may have played in the arrangements. Mr Burch confirmed that Mr Fisk approached him about being involved with school visits as part of the ‘Silence is Deadly’ program and said that he had been honoured to be asked . He had thought that his own experiences of depression, substance abuse and antisocial behaviour and of working through these problems with the support of others might offer some ‘peer insight’ for the students.

68. The Minister’s evidence also gains some support from the ‘community message’ issued by Mr Battenally on 17 February 2015, which stated that ‘at no point in time did Minister Burch or her staff approach Martin Fisk or any other Menslink staff or Board member to request her son be involved in the school-based programs conducted by Menslink.’ This information may have been provided by Mr Fisk but it is not only consistent with his evidence but also with that of the Minister and the account given by her son in his letter to the Office of Regulatory Services.

69. No cogent evidence to the contrary has emerged and there is nothing inherently improbable in the Minister’s account of the relevant events. 

70. It was suggested that there was some inconsistency between two of the statements made by the Minister in explaining the relevant events, namely the visits ‘were entirely between Menslink and my son’ and ‘I approached the CEO on behalf of my son’. However, it is clear from the Hansard records that, in recounting the fact that she had ‘approached the CEO on behalf of my son’, she had not been referring to some overture she had made about the school visits but to an approach she had made to Mr Fisk in April 2014 in order to obtain the first of the references.

71. Some suggestion that the Minister may have been complicit in the arrangements has been raised, at least by implication, by comments made by Mr Roberts. In his complaint to the board of Menslink, Mr Roberts said the Minister was ‘open to allegations of conflict of interest by asking Menslink to intervene.’ he added that: ‘It would be very destructive if a narrative was written by the Canberra Times drawing links from the Education minister, to the Menslink CEO, and then to her son being allowed into schools to talk when other offenders would be excluded’

72. His concern about the potential impact of adverse press reports on the reputation and work of Menslink may be entirely understandable. However, Mr Roberts did not commence employment with Menslink until 2014 and, when asked whether the Minister had asked him or anyone associated with Menslink to arrange such visits or had done anything else to facilitate them, he said simply: ‘Ms Burch has never had contact with me.’ Hence, the suggestion that the Minister had asked Menslink to make the arrangements seems to have been based on assumption rather than any actual knowledge of what occurred. The suggestion was not repeated in the submission he subsequently provided at my request.

The role of Mr Fisk

73. Mr Fisk obviously played a pivotal role in the events that gave rise to the complaint. He seems to have made all of the relevant decisions on Menslink’s behalf. He made or effectively authorised the relevant arrangements, wrote both of the references relied upon by Mr Burch in the sentencing proceedings and, as previously mentioned, seems to have been the only Menslink representative to have had any relevant discussions with the Minister. 

74. Both Mr Roberts’ submission and his earlier complaint to the Menslink board contain trenchant criticism of Mr Fisk’s actions in accepting Mr Burch into the ‘Silence is Deadly’ program and arranging for him to visit schools when he not only lacked a WWVP Card but had been convicted of aggravated robbery and was awaiting sentencing. Mr Roberts suggests that Mr Burch received exceptional treatment because he was the Minister’s son. He also maintains that Mr Fisk breached the Act, breached Menslink’s own protocols, kept staff in the dark and provided false information in the second of the references prepared for the court.   

75. I should stress that I am neither required nor entitled to make any judgments about the wisdom or propriety of Mr Fink’s conduct, save to the extent to which it might cast light on issues relating to the complaint against the Minister. 

76. However, the Leader of the Opposition has submitted that the allegations made by Mr Roberts cast Mr Fisk’s version of events in a doubtful light and that the matters he has raised may undermine the weight that should be given to other statements made by Menslink. This submission obviously requires due consideration. It is also necessary to consider whether any inferences about the the role of the Minister should be drawn from his conduct.

77. These issues must be approached with caution. Since I am not dealing with a complaint against Mr Fisk, he has not been asked to make submissions in his own defence and, in the absence of a full oral hearing in which they could be fairly tested, it would be wrong to assume that all of the allegations now raised against him are well founded. 

78. The brief prepared by Rear Admiral Clarke reveals that Mr Fisk was found to have knowingly breached the drug and alcohol policy stated in the Menslink Manual by not raising Mr Burch’s participation with the board. The report explains that the board had ‘restricted the use of volunteers with a history of drug and alcohol abuse’ and cited paragraph 7.8.1 of the Manual. However, that paragraph refers to ‘drug or alcohol use (or former use) by a board member, executive staff, patrons or other high profile people whose name may be associated with Menslink’. It may be noted that whilst this paragraph covers patrons, it does not extend even to non executive staff, let alone volunteers. It seems to be directed towards any involvement with prominent people whose drug taking or drinking might tarnish Menslink’s reputation, not to young men who have formerly used drugs or alcohol and subsequently volunteered to help others avoid similar mistakes. However, it is not my role to review the Board’s conclusions and this was not the only adverse finding. The Board was also critical of his judgment, knowledge of the Act and apparent lack of remorse. It also complained that he had exposed Menslink and others to prosecution.

79. On the other hand, the brief recorded some favourable observations , including:

The board accepted that (Mr Fisk) believed he had acted in good faith for the benefit of Men’s Link and the rehabilitation of Mr Burch

The board’s risk assessment revealed no adverse impact of Mr Burch’s involvement in the Silence is Deadly programme other than the exposure of Men’s Link, (Mr Fisk), Mr Burch and possible (sic), other Men’s Link staff to prosecution.

80. Mr Roberts seems to feel that these findings were insufficient. Whilst I have no reason to doubt the sincerity of his indignation and distress at what occurred, it does seem likely that his present attitude towards Mr Fisk may be at least partially attributable to a fundamental difference of view about the manner in which Menslink should respond to young offenders like Mr Burch. In his complaint to the board, Mr Roberts said that he objected to Mr Fisk’s ‘forgiving nature’ in view of the seriousness and nature of Mr Burch’s crime. Whilst conceding that there was a case for Menslink to rehabilitate young men who had committed crimes, he said that there was a difference between Mr Burch and someone who had already served his sentence and was seeking to redeem himself and contribute to the community. He accepted that Mr Burch could have been permitted to engage in counselling or to serve Menslink in some capacity involving no contact with young men, but expressed the opinion that ‘we should not use the resources of Menslink to reduce the punishment of a crime before the courts’. Mr Roberts , who had formerly been an Australian Federal Police chaplain, seemed to see this as an important moral principle. Mr Fisk clearly had very a different view.

81. Mr Roberts’ apparent concern about community bodies being used by offenders seeking unwarranted leniency should not be wholly discounted. Anyone involved in drug or alcohol rehabilitation who is approached by someone on bail for a serious offence needs to be alert to the risk of being manipulated for forensic purposes. On the other hand, I must say that I agree with Mr Fisk’ apparent view that it is desirable for mentoring organisations like Menslink to assist people struggling with drug, alcohol or mental health problems, even when they are still awaiting sentence. In my view it would be quite wrong to deny people prompt treatment and help merely because the proceedings pending against them have not been finally resolved. To do so would not enhance the sentencing process but merely deprive the judge of potentially important evidence about the offenders’ commitment to rehabilitation or propensity to lapse into recidivism. In fact, courts regularly adopt the practice followed by Justice Burns in April last year of deferring sentencing for some period to give an offender the opportunity to demonstrate that there is some realistic prospect of rehabilitation. This practice, sometimes known as the ‘carrot and stick’ approach, presents a drug dependent, alcoholic or in some cases mentally ill offender with a stark choice. The offender may agree to undertake or accept a regimen of treatment or rehabilitation stipulated by the court or face a substantial term of imprisonment. The prospect of imprisonment continues to hang over the offender’s head like the sword of Damocles and in some cases this practice merely delays an offender’s arrival at the prison gates, but there are many cases in which it is surprisingly effective.

82. In any event, Mr Roberts indicated that he had been so distressed by the approach taken by Mr Fisk that he had been obliged to take time off from work on three occasions due to ‘mental health issues’ and still found it difficult to work with him. Strong feelings may be a mark of the depth of one’s convictions, but they may also have the capacity to mislead and, perhaps, to attribute mala fides to others when the adverse perceptions one has formed may actually reflect some misunderstanding by one or both parties. There are some indications that at least some of his grievances against Mr Fisk could have arisen in this manner. For example:

· His statement that ‘it is clear in the legislation’ that Mr Burch needed a WWVP card to enter even one school seems to have reflected his misunderstanding of the relevant provisions. Mr Roberts may have gained this impression from paragraph 6 of the Menslink Manual but it was nonetheless incorrect, as was the accompanying assertion that Mr Fisk ‘knew of this fact.’

· Whilst Mr Roberts complained of staff being deliberately kept in the dark about Mr Burch’s background, he also mentioned that Mr Fisk had said, ‘on more than one occasion, that he was assisting Mr Burch with a court matter’. Whilst Mr Roberts may have expected him to reveal any further information that was relevant, Mr Fisk may have assumed that, if he had not known what the court matter was about, he would have asked. 

· After noting that Mr Fisk had informed the court that Mr Burch had used his sessions in the schools to speak of his drug use and violence, Mr Roberts stated that ‘this simply did not occur’. However, as previously mentioned, Mr Roberts did not commence work with Menslink until late July, when six of the eleven school visits recorded by Mr Fisk had already occurred, and he referred to only two of the other five in his own list of the schools visited. Accordingly, it seems likely that he was not present on at least nine of the eleven occasions (including the one in Queanbeyan) on which Mr Burch had presumably spoken. Mr Roberts may have accepted things that others had told him or assumed that Mr Burch had always followed the same theme, but in the absence of further evidence, I would not be willing to assume that Mr Fisk had knowingly included false information in his reference.

· The proposition that the judge had taken the view that ‘without the assistance of Menslink Mr Burch would probably be in gaol’ seems to have been overstated. Justice Burns did speak with evident approval of Mr Burch’s involvement with Menslink, but he also took into account the fact that Mr Burch had attended Directions ACT, ceased using drugs, changed his attitude and started studying. The judgement also makes it clear that other sentencing options, including periodic detention, had been precluded by the fact that Mr Burch had been involved in an accident and had two fractured legs.

· Some of Mr Roberts’ assumptions, such as the belief that the resources of Menslink would not have been used for Burch’s rehabilitation if he ‘had not been the son of an influential person’ may have also been unduly cynical. The ‘Strategy” section of the Menslink Manual begins with the statement that ‘Menslink provides mentoring and face-to-face counselling services to young men aged 12-25 years of age’ and, after mentioning some types of ‘challenges’ it may be unable to adequately address, continues: ‘Regardless of this, Menslink will always attempt to assist any young man in need …’ 

83. Of course, none of these observations suggest that Mr Roberts’ complaints were not made honestly. On the contrary, he seems to be a person of real conviction who was genuinely aggrieved at what he saw as flagrant breaches of Menslink’s legal obligations and ethical standards. 

84. On the other hand, I am not persuaded that Mr Fisk, who even Mr Roberts described as an ‘upstanding member of the community’, should be regarded as devoid of credibility merely because these allegations have been made against him. It has not  been suggested that he stood to make any personal gain by his actions and I can see no reason to doubt that he was motivated by genuine concern for a young man in obvious need of mentoring and help. As the CEO of Menslink, he must bear substantial responsibility for the breaches of the Act that occurred, but the evidence does not establish that this was attributable to anything more sinister than a failure to ensure that an adequate system was established and followed to prevent any such breaches. 

85. The material provided by Mr Roberts does not contain any evidence capable of supporting an inference that the Minister intentionally influenced Mr Fisk to involve her son in school visits. He does claim that Mr Fisk told him that Mr Burch was the son of the Minister of Education and explained he had told him this so that he would not make any derogatory remarks about her at school. Mr Roberts says that he found this both strange and an offence to his professionalism. It can sometimes be difficult to know what inferences should be drawn from words alone and I cannot discount the possibility that there may have been something in Mr Fisk’s accompanying tone or demeanour that led Mr Roberts to construe this statement as strange and offensive, but at face value it does not seem remarkable. Not everyone suppresses political biases when making judgments about others and this conversation apparently occurred during Mr Robert’s first week with Menslink. Mr Fisk was not asked for his version of the conversation but even if it occurred as Mr Roberts apparently recalls, it may have reflected nothing more than a desire to avoid embarrassment or unintended offence. 

86. Of course, Mr Fisk may well have been sensitive to the fact that Mr Burch was the Minister’s son, but the evidence does not support an inference that he consciously departed from from his duty in order to impress the Minister. It is also difficult to imagine that Mr Fisk could have expected her to have been pleased by having her son permitted to breach the Act and hence commit even relatively minor offences whilst awaiting sentencing in the Supreme Court.

87.  The possibility that his initial decision to involve Mr Burch in the ‘Silence is Deadly’ program may have been influenced, in part, by a desire to please the Minister cannot be so readily dismissed, but even this has not been established. There was no obvious reason for him to have rejected an approach from any young man in Mr Burch’s position and no evidence to suggest that the Minister did or said anything in an attempt to influence him to give her son preference in some way.

88. Had any conflict emerged in the accounts given by Mr Roberts and Mr Fisk that seemed likely to have a substantial bearing on the outcome of the complaint against the Minister, I would have arranged for an oral hearing so that the reliability of the competing versions could have been more effectively assessed and appropriate findings made. However, that did not occur. Mr Roberts acknowledged that he had had no personal contact with the Minister and, whatever the merits of his complaints against Mr Fisk, the adverse assumptions he made concerning the Minister have not been shown to be well founded. 

89. Viewed overall, the evidence concerning Mr Fisk’s role and conduct provides no real grounds for an inference that the Minister did anything to encourage or facilitate her son’s visits to the schools or the breaches of the Act.

SHOULD THE MINISTER HAVE INTERVENED TO STOP THE VISITS?

90. The Minister concedes that she became aware of the visits when her son told her about the experience of visiting the first school and said that Menslink had invited him to visit others. She said that he had been enthusiastic about forming new relationships and the faith Mr Fisk had shown in him.
 
91. Mr Fisk has also said that he met the Minister at a number of social events during the period in which her son was involved with the ‘Silence is Deadly’ program and that he had told her that he was doing well but had not provided any details of the schools he had visited.

92. The fact that she became aware of her son’s participation in the school visits so early in the period of his involvement with Menslink may raise questions about whether she then had a duty to intervene in some way.

The suggested need to ensure statutory compliance

93. The Leader of the Opposition has suggested that once she became aware of her son’s visits to ACT schools she should have disclosed the full extent of his activities and taken steps to ensure that the relevant legislation and guidelines were complied with. He maintains that she committed a breach of her duties by ‘turning a blind eye’ when she had ‘actual and on-going knowledge of his activities’. This is a serious allegation which, if sustained, would warrant a conclusion that she had contravened sections (3), (5), (9) and (10) of the Code of Conduct.

94. Of course, the Minister was denied the benefit of hindsight that can so easily be brought to bear on issues of this kind and it is necessary to consider what she must have known or suspected at the time.  Any finding that she should have anticipated future breaches of the Act would require evidence that she was not only aware of the relevant statutory requirements but also that she knew her son had not complied with them and that he intended to persevere with the visits beyond the number permitted without registration.

95. The Minister concedes that she knew the Act provided for a scheme of registration and was generally aware that the requirement was dependent upon the number and frequency of visits. However, she maintains that she was unaware of the number of visits her son had undertaken at any given time and hence unaware that registration was required.

96. Mr Fisk confirmed that he had never had any discussion with the Minister concerning the need for her son to be registered. 

97. The requirements of the Act are of obvious importance to the safety of children in schools and, as the Minister for Education and Training, I would have expected her to have had a good general knowledge of its requirements. However, she is not a lawyer and education is not her only portfolio. Furthermore, the only relevant gaps in her claimed knowledge of the applicable provisions apparently related to such details as the precise scope of the exception for occasional visits by people who were unregistered. In the circumstances I see no reason to doubt that her knowledge of the Act was as she has stated.

98. The Minister acknowledges that she knew her son had been provided with registration forms but says that she assumed that this process was being managed or supervised by Menslink. Since he was a participant in a community based program run by the a reputable charitable organisation which routinely arranged for volunteers to be involved in school visits, this does not seem to have been an unreasonable assumption. 

99. It should also be remembered that her son was still in a precarious legal position. He had already pleaded guilty to aggravated robbery, an offence that usually leads to a substantial term  of imprisonment, and had still not been sentenced. One would have expected her to have reacted with alarm if she had suspected that his participation in the school visits was likely to involve the commission of further offences, however minor, whilst he was on bail. The fact that she apparently responded with equanimity to the news of his participation suggests that she had not realised that there had been any prospect of that occurring.

100. It could be contended that she should have questioned her son more closely about his understanding of the need for registration, made further enquiries to ascertain the number of visits permitted by the statutory exception and taken some action to ensure that they were not exceeded. Such a contention would obviously need to be supported by evidence that the Minister had had at least some foresight of the likelihood that Mr Fisk and other Menslink staff would fail to ensure due compliance with the requirements of the Act. There is no evidence that she was adverted to such a likelihood. On the contrary, I think she was entitled to assume that Mr Fisk and other members of the Menslink staff were well aware of the statutory requirements for registration and had an established system in place to ensure due compliance with the prevailing statutory requirements. The evidence does not reveal anything that should have alerted her to some risk that Menslink staff would be unaware of the need for her son to be registered or that he would otherwise find himself in breach of the Act.

101. The Minister she did not at any time consult the ACT Ethics and Integrity Adviser about the visits, but in August 2014 she did inform the Director General of the ACT Education and Training Directorate that her son was ‘volunteering with Menslink and may visit schools.’ She asked her to let her know if any concerns were raised. Of course, she could have raised the matter with her much earlier, but there was no apparent obligation for her to have done so and, when the Director General was informed, she indicated that no concerns had been raised by anyone.

102. Of course, the Minister would have had a duty to intervene urgently if she had known her son was continuing to visit schools in breach of the statutory requirement for registration. However, she said that she first became aware of the apparent breaches of the Act when she met Rear Admiral Clarke on 12 November 2014 who apparently gave her some explanation of what had occurred and told her that Menslink would be notifying the Office of Regulatory Service of the non compliance. 

103. Upon learning of the breaches she told her son about this conversation and asked him to cooperate fully with the Office of Regulatory Services. He also undertook not to visit any more schools until the matter was resolved to the satisfaction of the relevant authorities.

104. Viewed overall, the evidence does not reveal that the Minister had any reason to anticipate the breaches of the statutory requirements that occurred or any basis for concluding that she failed in her duty by not actively intervening to prevent them.

Her son’s conviction

105. Another question that could be asked is whether, irrespective of whether any law was likely to be broken, the Minister should have done something to prevent her son from entering schools when he had been convicted and was on bail pending sentencing for a serious criminal offence. Even if she had been unable to persuade him to abstain from such visits, as the Minister for Education and Training she could presumably have given directions that would have prevented him from entering government schools and she could have arranged for her staff to contact the Catholic Education Office and other bodies responsible for the conduct of private schools to convey her views.

106. This question really involves two issues. The first is an issue of policy: should people with a history of drug or alcohol abuse and/or criminal records be permitted to come into schools for the purpose of participating in programs like the ‘Silence is Deadly' program that are intended to address problems of that kind? The second is an issue of personal responsibility: did the Minister breach her duty by failing to prevent her son from doing so?

107. Opinions may differ sharply about the first of these issues. Mr Roberts was clearly appalled at what occurred and still maintains that Mr Fisk should not have permitted it. Many people would agree with him. Some would assume that the entry of anyone recently convicted of an offence involving violence might jeopardise the physical safety of students. Others might be concerned that permitting such a person to talk to young and perhaps impressionable male students about drug abuse might have unintended consequences. On the other hand, Mr Fisk and no doubt others would argue that if depressed, uncommunicative and perhaps potentially suicidal male teenagers respond to anyone, it is likely to be someone who has experienced similar problems, gone down some of the destructive paths that may loom before them and begun to emerge to find hope. Perhaps fortunately, this is not an issue I am required to resolve. I am concerned only with the propriety of the Minister’s conduct.

108. Nonetheless, the issues are not unrelated. A person who takes the same view as Mr Roberts may readily conclude that the Minister had a duty to do all that she could to prevent her son’s participation in school visits, whilst one who takes the same view as Mr Fisk might take the view that any such intervention would have been quite inappropriate. It is not my role to determine what policy the Minister should have adopted or even whether she should have adopted any policy at all rather than leaving such matters to be determined by principals or others responsible for individual schools. Hence, in my opinion, it would be inappropriate to attempt to resolve this aspect of the complaint by reference to an assumption the Minister had a general duty to prevent organisations like Menslink from undertaking any programs in schools when they involved young men with alcohol abuse or previous convictions.

109. Of course, the Minister has an overriding duty to act in the public interest (see section 3 of the Code of Conduct) and the absence of such a general duty would not absolve anyone in her position from the need to intervene if she formed a view that the involvement of a particular person was likely to give rise to an unacceptable level of risk. However, there is no evidence to suggest that she formed such a view.

110. Mr Burch had obviously committed a serious offence, but his arrest and subsequent court appearances, including the appearance before Justice Burns on 9 April 2014, seem to have led to a substantial change in attitude. He had been assessed by Mr Fisk as suitable for the program. He was also on bail at the time of all of the visits except the one to St Edmunds College which occurred after he had been sentenced and would have known that any further misconduct would have been likely to result in him being sent to prison. It is also significant that he was accompanied by a Menslink staff member during the course of each visit and that staff from the schools also attended the sessions. In these circumstances, I do not think that the Minister should be taken to have formed a view that there was an unacceptable risk that he might engage in some unacceptable behaviour that could not be managed by members of the Menslink staff accustomed to dealing with troubled young men.

111. In my opinion, the evidence does not establish that the Minister committed any breach of the principles expressed in the Code of Conduct either by failing to intervene in order to prevent from her son visiting ACT schools or to ensure that such visits did not involve any breach of the Act. 

THE REFERENCES

112. There is some uncertainty as to how the references came to be written. The Minister says that she is unable to recall whether she approached Mr Fisk about the first reference in April or whether it had been done by her son or his lawyers, but she says that she did approach him about the second reference in September. On the other hand, Mr Fisk says that it was the Minister who had asked him to provide the first reference and that he had written the second reference on his own initiative. I can see no reason to suspect that either the Minister or Mr Fisk were less than candid in attempting to recall what had happened. On either version, the Minister clearly approached Mr Fisk to ask him to provide one of the references for her son and any doubt as to whether that occurred in April or September would not appear to have any substantial impact on the issue raised by the complaint. However, I am inclined to think that Mr Fisk’s memory may be more accurate as he had had to actually write the references and his account of the events revealed no suggestion of any doubt about the accuracy of his recollection.

113. There has been no suggestion that the Minister attempted to influence Mr Fisk in relation to the contents of either of the references and the only issue that arises is whether the Minister acted in breach of any of the principles expressed in the Code of Conduct by asking Mr Fisk to provide it.

114. In response to this suggestion, she maintains that she contacted Mr Fisk not as the Minister for Education and Training, but in a private capacity as the mother of a young man in obvious need of help and on the advice of his lawyer. As the Leader of the Opposition has suggested, section 3 of the Code of Conduct does not recognise a distinction between benefits sought as a Member and benefits sought as a parent or in some other capacity. The last clause of this section simply states that Members should ‘not seek to gain financial or other benefit for themselves, their family or friends.’ 

115. Nonetheless, the intended scope of this section is by no means clear. If the last clause were to be construed literally and in isolation, its unequivocal terms would effectively prevent Members from engaging in many of the normal activities of life, such as borrowing the proverbial cup of sugar or asking a neighbour to mind a child for short period. I am sure that was not intended. Whilst it may be unnecessary for me to attempt to define the limits of this principle’s potential application, I think this part of the section must be construed by reference to the duty expressed in the earlier part requiring Members to act in the public interest and make decisions and choices on merit. Construed in this manner, I think the section requires Members not to seek financial or other benefits in any circumstances related to the office they hold and/or the duties they are required to undertake. The principle would extend to requests or overtures made in the realisation that those providing the benefits would be likely to expect something in return, whether a discrete quid pro quo of some kind, a more favourable attitude towards their interests in a continuing commercial relationship with the ACT government or merely a kindly disposition towards them in case some situation occurred in which a sympathetic approach by someone in the Member’s position might be useful. 

116. Of course, even if that construction were to be adopted, it might still be difficult to know exactly where to draw the line. In the present case, whilst Mr Fisk would have understood that the Minister’s request for a reference involved a plea for help from a concerned mother, he would also have remained conscious of the fact that she was the Minister for Education and Training and the evidence suggests that she had previously been supportive of the work of his employer, Menslink. In these circumstances, it could be suggested that she must have realised the Mr Fisk would or might expect something in return, if only some marginal increase in her level of goodwill towards Menslink and hence to the likelihood that it would continue to be treated favourably.

117. Whilst that is conceivable the evidence does not establish that she adverted to such a possibility. In fact, it seems likely that she anticipated that Mr Fisk would be actuated only by concern for her son. As she well knew, he was the Chief Executive Officer of a charitable organisation with the avowed mission of promoting ‘the value, well-being and social participation of men, in particular young men’. There was no obvious reason for her to have supposed that he would not have been equally willing to help any other young men in similar situations.

118. Whilst I am reluctant to trespass too far into areas more properly the domain of the Committee and/or the Ethics and Integrity Adviser, I should, perhaps, stress that section (3) does not encapsulate a precisely formulated legal rule but expresses an ethical principle and that it is part of an overall code of conduct that must be applied within the social context in which Members live and raise their families. Consequently, it may be quite inappropriate to interpret it an overly technical manner and apply it without regard for the practical implications. In a city like Canberra it will not always be possible for Members to wholly avoid seeking help from people who might conceivably be influenced by the public office they hold. Members who seek advice from government departments, treatment from the staff of public hospitals or even assistance from non-government organisations like Menslink may sometimes realise that they could receive favourable treatment by reason of the offices they hold (though, of course, there may also be occasions when they may fear an opposite response). Yet it would be wholly impracticable to insist that they should withdraw from any such situations. In my opinion, the section should be seen as reflecting the general requirement to act with honesty and integrity and it should be applied in a manner dictated by common sense and community standards.

119. In the present case, I have no doubt that the Minister was entitled to approach Mr Fisk to ask him to provide a reference for her son. In my view the request did not contravene the principle expressed in section (3) of the Code of Conduct or otherwise involve any breach of her ethical obligations.

DID THE MINISTER FAIL TO MAKE DUE DISCLOSURE?
 
120. The complaint also suggests that the Minister breached her duty by failing to make a timely disclosure of the relevant events in order to dispel any perceived conflict of interest that had arisen from the school visits undertaken by her son in breach of the Act whilst she held office as Minister for Education and Training.

121. Ethical requirements concerning real or apparent conflicts of interest are usually expressed in terms that require those bound by them to avoid any situations in which such conflicts are likely to arise; not to require ex post facto statements, whether in the hope of dispelling adverse perceptions already formed or pre-empting any such perceptions before the news leaks out. A formulation of that kind may be found in section 10 of the Code of Conduct which requires Members ‘to actively seek to prevent any conflict of interest, or the perception of such a conflict, arising between their duties as a Member and their personal affairs and interests’. However, the duties expressed in section (5) go much further than formulations of that kind. They require Members to avoid or ‘appropriately resolve’ any actual or reasonably perceived conflicts of interest and to ‘submit themselves to appropriate scrutiny.’ 

122. In the present case, there seem to be real issues as to when such a conflict of interest may have arisen and what the Minister may have been required to do in order to expose herself to the requisite scrutiny.

123. In my opinion, the evidence does not reveal any real or apparent conflict of interest at the time the Minister first became aware of her son’s participation in the school visits. No breach of the Act had then occurred and the evidence does not reveal anything that should have alerted her to any risk that Menslink might fail to ensure due compliance. She had launched the ‘Silence is Deadly’ program in December 2012, well before her son became involved in it, and presumably saw it as a valid means of helping male secondary students deal with their problems and perhaps avoid suicide. Mr Fisk apparently believed that Mr Burch’s involvement would be beneficial to such students and there is no reason to doubt that his mother shared that view. 

124. Of course, a clear conflict of interest emerged once she became aware that some of the visits had involved breaches of the Act. In my view, she was then obliged to ensure that the appropriate authorities were informed. As previously mentioned, she had special responsibilities as Minister for Education and Training and the breaches had occurred during the course of programs conducted by an organisation that had apparently received government funding and enjoyed a continuing relationship with many schools. On the other hand, such a disclosure could have resulted in the prosecution of her son. However, Rear Admiral Clarke, who told her of the breaches, immediately resolved this conflict by announcing that he intended to inform the Office of Regulatory Services and proceeding to do so. I think she was entitled to accept that his report would be sufficient, especially since he was ‘self-reporting’ offences for which the organisation whose board he chaired bore legal and moral responsibility.

125. Whilst section (5) does require Members to be ‘transparent’ in their actions, it does not impose a general duty for Members to make spontaneous public disclosures and when the relevant issues involve breaches of the law likely to give rise to prosecutions there are usually sound reasons for them to decline to do so. There are some cases in which the public interest may require public disclosure and it may be argued that apparent breaches of statutory obligations by the son of a Minister fall into this category. However, even in cases of that nature, the relevant Minister may be obliged to take into account a range of competing considerations before deciding where the path of duty lies. 

126. In the present case, the beaches of the Act constituted relatively minor offences, the reaction of Rear Admiral Clarke made it clear that there was unlikely to be any opportunity for them to be repeated and the Minister had no reason to believe that they would not be dealt with by the Office of Regulatory services in an appropriate manner. It may also be argued that, given her son’s involvement, any public statement by the Minister may have given rise to further perceptions of a conflict of interest and perhaps even been seen as an attempt to influence any decision by the Office of Regulatory Services concerning his potential prosecution. There is obviously scope for debate about whether she was right to simply abstain from public comment and permit any resultant legal proceedings to take their course, but I am unable to conclude that she committed any breach of ethics by doing so.

127. Any public perception of a conflictive interest seems to have arisen when the relevant events were revealed by the press articles in February 2015. In my opinion, it then became incumbent upon the Minister to resolve the perceived conflict and submit herself to ‘public scrutiny’ in repletion to the relevant events.

128. The precise nature and extent of the response required by the duty in section (5) may vary according to the circumstances but, in the absence of some countervailing factor such as a genuine need to protect some public interest by maintaining due confidentiality, it will almost invariably require them to at least provide clear answers to any questions they may reasonably be asked in the Assembly. In the present case, I think the Minister was obliged to provide such a full and candid explanation to the Assembly once it was sought. She complied with this requirement when she gave a detailed explanation to the Legislative Assembly on 17 February 2015 and subsequently answered questions. She also addressed some of the relevant issues during a debate on the following day. 

129. She also cooperated fully with the investigation as required by section 17 of the Code of Conduct. I do not believe that the section required her to do more. 

130. There may be situations in which the general duty to act in the public interest will require a Member to offer a full a frank explanation on his or her own initiative. However, the section does not, in my opinion, impose a general requirement for Members who have not been guilty of any misconduct to provide pre-emptive explanations in case the finger of suspicion may come to fall upon them at some time in the future.

ISSUES OF CONFIDENTIALITY

131. Mr Battenally has requested that the contents of the brief prepared by Rear Admiral Clarke remain confidential and that every effort be made to avoid embarrassing the Board of Menslink or the Chief Executive Officer, Mr Fisk. Mr Fisk also made a request for the material he provided to be treated confidentially in view of the media attention the issue had already generated and the need for the staff of Menslink to concentrate on helping young men in the community. Whilst I understand these concerns, especially in the light of the allegations made against Mr Fisk by Mr Roberts, I concluded that it was for the Committee to determine whether the whole or any part of this report should be publicly released and, if so, whether the names of any of those mentioned should be redacted.

CONCLUSION

132. The complaint raised potentially serious issues about the conduct of the Minister who holds high offices in the Australian Capital Territory. In my opinion, there was sufficient evidence to warrant referral of the matter for an independent investigation. However, that investigation has now been completed and, after examining the issues raised, I have formed the view that no breach of the Minister’s duty has been substantiated.

133. I recommend that the complaint be dismissed.




K. J. Crispin QC
Commissioner for Standards
28 May 2015
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D ear Madam Speaker

| request your consideration that actions of Members of the Legislative Assembly for the ACT be
referred to the Commissioner for Standards for breaches of the Code of Conduct for all Members
of the Legislative Assembly of the Australian Capital Territory, as detailed below.

Background.

The incidents that relate to this application first came to light in the Canberra Times on 12
February 2015 in an article headlined School visits by Burch’s son led to fine; Mentoring group
unaware of convictions.” ‘ ‘

The article details how Education and Training Minister Jay Burch’s son, on bail for an aggravated
robbery charge at the time, was allowed into ACT Education Directorate schools without a .
Working with Vulnerable People card.

These visits were facilitated by the CEO of the youth mentoring group Menslink. Board members
of Menslink have stated they where ‘aghast’ at the revelations and self-reported to the ACT
Office of Regulatory Service, resulting in a $2,500 fine for breaches of the Working with
Vulnerable People (Background Checking) Act 2014, '

Ms Joy Burch is the Minister for the directorate that has provided funding for Menslink, and the
Minister launched the program used by her son to access ACT schools.

Minister Burch has been evasive in answering questions on this topic, and has provided
contradictory answers in other cases.

Civic Square, London Circuit, Canberra, ACT, 2600
GPO Box 1020, Canberra, ACT, 2601
Phone: 026205 0133; Fax: 026205 3017 ; Email: hanson@parliament.act.gov.au
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She does, however, admit she approached the CEO of Menslink to write a reference for her son,
which was used at the sentencmg trial, and that letter was specifically mentloned by the
sentencing Judge. ‘ '

v S i1
' The events have led to W|despread commumty concern, and extensive questlonmg of Minister

Burch WIth only partlal answers provnded to date
. I

I moved a motion in the Leg:slatlve Assembly in'résponse to these matters on 18 February 2015
which raised,issues of confllct of interest, government accountability and transparency. The
debate is available on the’ Leglslatlve Assembly Hansard.

Aleen these |SSL(es have not been able to be addressed using Assembly mechamsms | request a
review by the Cofnmissionet for Standards on the following grounds.

Lk [
i AL .

Breaches of sections (3) (5) (9) and (10).

Without excluding breaches of the criminal code or more extensive breaches of the Code of
Conduct, it appears that sections 3, 5, 9 and 10 of the Code of Conduct have been breached.

The relevant sections state:

s3) members should always act in the public interest, make decisions and choices on
merit, and not seek to gain financial or other benefit for themselves, their family or their
friends. '

s5) Members should be transparent in, and accountable for, their decisions and actions, .
should avoid or appropriately resolve any actual or reasonably perceived conflicts of
interest and should submit themselves to appropriate scrutiny.

s9) Members should promote and support those principles by leadership and example, in
order to maintain and support public trust and confidence in the integrity of the Assembly
and the conduct of its Members of public business. '

510) Actively seek to prevent any conflict of interest, or the peréeption of such a conflict,
arising between their duties as a Member and their personal affairs and interests, take all
reasonable steps to resolve any such conflict or perception of conflict that does arise...

There appear to have been several instances where these sections have not been met, and those
breaches are by Minister Burch and the Chief Minister Andrew Barr. | ask for a review of their
conduct for the reasons below.
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Breaches by Minister Burch.

To what extent Minister Burch facilitated her son’s involvement with Menslink is unclear,
however her admission that she sought a reference from Menslink for use in her son’s
sentencing hearing indicates some prior knowledge of his involvement.

Itis unknown when Minister Burch first became aware that her son’s visits to schools were
unlawful or that Menslink had self reported themsélves for a breach of the Working with
Viulnerable People (Background Checking) Act 2014. However, to the extent answers have been
provided, Minister Burch seems to have been aware of these breaches from at least October
2014, months before it was first revealed in the Canberra Times.

Minister Burch’s conflicting role as Education Minister, her previous involvement with the CEO
of Menslink who facilitated the visits and wrote the reference (including funding and awarding
his organisation), and the direct benefit she sought and received for her son seem to be a breach
of section 3 of the Code of Conduct.

It has been put to me by members of the community that no other individual convicted of
aggravated robbery awaiting sentencing could have-accessed schools and school children

without the appropriate clearances, then have the Minister responsible for those schools request
a reference, and then use that reference in a sentencing hearing.

As well as the above matters, Minister Burch has been evasive in providing information, with
many guestions remaining unanswered. This has been widely commented on in reports such as
those entitled ‘Minister won’t answer questions on schools visit’, ‘Menslink silence is deadly’, and
‘Sad story of Lloyd Burch needs explaining’ (see attached).

Minister Burch has also given apparently contradictory statements; on one occasion stating the
affair was ‘entirely between Menslink and my son’ and that she had no role, but then
subsequently stating ‘I approached the CEO on behalf of my son.’

Waiting months before addressing the issue, and then only doing so partially following numerous
media articles and calls by the opposition for an inquiry, cannot be seen as ‘actively seeking to
prevent the perception of a conflict of interest’ as required by the Code of Conduct.

It is illustrative of the Minister’s failings that once the Menslink board became aware of the
school visits, it was obvious to them that those visits were inappropriate and required full
disclosure, while the Minister remained silent.
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The Canberra Times reports:

‘... the discovery of (his) conviction came as a shock to many in Menslink, including the

~ board, whose then-chairman Peter Clarke said he and the board had been “absolutely
aghast" gt the discovery. The issue had only been brought to the board's attention after
the sentencing, he said.

The issue has caused major angst inside the organisation. At least one of the people who
went into schools with (the individual) resigned in protest in the past fortnight, and at
least one other person is said to be deeply unhappy.’

Given this widespread demand for answers,v | contend there is a clear failing in the requirement
to ‘maintain and support public trust and confidence in the integrity of the Assembly and the
conduct of its Members of public business’ or ‘actively seek to prevent any conf/ict of interest, or
the perception of such a conflict, arisihg between their duties as a Member and their personal
affairs and interests, take all reasonable steps to resolve any such conflict or perception of
conflict that does arise’ as required by the Code of Conduct.

Breaches by Andrew Barr ‘
In addition to the above actions, | seek a review of the actions of Andrew Barr, Chief Minister, on
similar grounds. '

The avoidance of scrutiny and lack of openness, transparency and actively seeking to avoid
perceptions of conflicts of interest are particularly pertinent in section 9;

‘Members should promote and support those principles by leadership and example...’

As Chief Minister, Andrew Barr is in a unique position to promote these principles by leadership
and example, and has demonstrably failed to do so.

He has described media interest in this matter as ‘hysteria’ and declared the'issue closed, while
also refusing to answer questions or provide fulsome or accountable answers. As an example |
submit the following extract from Question Time of Tuesday, February 17, 2015.

MR COE: Chief Minister, on what date, given that you have had a week to consider
this since the story broke, were you first advised of this situation? ”
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MR BARR: | have become aware of this situation at the same time as other members

of the community.
MADAM SPEAKER: A supplementary question, Mr Coe.
MR COE: On what date did the rest of the community become aware of th|s issue?

MR BARR. That is something | cannot answer.

A full transcript of this question is attached.

[ submit both Minister Burch and Chief Minister Andrew Barr have been actively avoiding
appropriate scrutiny, as required by under section 5, 9 and 10. The above exchange is but one

example of this avoidance.

I also refer to. extracts from a Canberra Times article of 20 February 2015 (attached) followmg
the debate in the Legislative Assembly. - '

‘The codes of conduct also require members to be transparent in their decisions, and

accountable for them, submitting themselves to "appropriate scrutiny”. In this context,

the Labor Party's determination to shut down debate, attack the media for bringing the

story to light and attack the Liberal opposition with an extraordinary ferocity for pursuing
the issue is surprising. Rarely does the Assembly reach such levels of aggression.’

‘Greens Minister Shane Rattenbury was perplexed at his approach, telling the Assembly
that he struggled, at times, to understand the party he works so closely with. "I don't
understand why the approach is to bunker down and not answer questions when they're
asked," he said. "I don't understand why they fail to understand the community’s right to
have an explanation and to have questions answered."

‘The obfuscation is inexplicable and pointless, and suggests a preference for aggressive,
bullish attack than simple explanation and accountability.’

Not frivolous, vexatious or only for political advantage.

[ address the requirement that my request be considered by you not to be frivolous, vexatious or

only for political advantage.

If breaches of sections 3, 5, 9 or 10 are made out, they would be serious breaches of the Code of
Conduct, and therefore require independent review as envisioned for the Commissioner for
Standards.
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There has also been widespread community concern over this matter and numerous media
articles from a number of publications support this view.

For example, Ross Solly wrote on 19 February 2015 that ‘It raises obwous questions about what
_ role the Minister might have played...” and that ‘by refusing to answer quest/ons it suggests the
government, and Joy Burch in particular, has something to hide.’

1 have attached other examples to demonstrate the community debate initiated by this issue.
Finally, the Clerk of the Assembly has provided advice to Mr Rattenhury after a specific request
on this topic, stating ‘it would certa/nly be appropriate to refer the matter to the Speaker for her
consideration.’

| submit these are very serious issues for the community and the integrity of government.

Given all thése factors, | ask that you recommend that these events be reviewed by the
Commissioner for Standards.

| would also welcome the opportunity to discuss these issues with the Commissioner.

—
.
™

Jeremy Hanson MLA t

22 g February 2015
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ATTACHMENT 1.

HANSARD TRANSCRIPT
February 17, 2015
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Questions without notice |
(Hansard, Legislative Assembly for the ACT 17 February 201- Proof Transcript, p388)

Schools—safety

MR HANSON: My quéstion is to the Chief Minister, Chief Minister, it was reported
- in the Canberra Times last week that an organisation had been fined as a result of
exposing ACT schoolchildren to a convicted criminal awaiting sentencing without a
working with vulnerable people clearance. With regard to the safety of children in
schools in the ACT, Chief Minister, when did you or your office first become aware
of this situation and what action did you take?. '

MR BARR: I have responded to those questions that Ms Lawson put to me, so it is
good to see that the collaboration between the Canberra Times and the Canberra
Liberals continues on this issue. I became aware at around the same time as other
members of the community. In relation to these issues, I think Minister Burch has just
given a thorough explanation of all that occurred, and these grubby, gutter tactics of
the Leader of the Opposition reflect on his character and the character of all of those
who support him to continue in the leadership of his party. If this sort of approach is
going to dictate how this place is going to run over the next 18 months, it is a new low
for the Legislative Assembly. The lengths to which this man is prepared to go to
besmirch the reputation—

Mr Hanson: Madam Speaker, on a point of order.

MADAM SPEAKER: A point of order.

Mr Hanson: It is on relevance. The question very clearly is: when did the Chief
Minister become aware of this breach of law?

>Mr Corbell: He has answered it,

Mr Hanson: He has not answered that question. To say it was when the rest of the
community became aware is a vague answer. I asked him for a specific date—when
the Chief Minister became aware of this breach of law. It is a reasonable question, and
I would ask that the Chief Minister be directly relevant.

Mr Corbell: On the point of order, Madam Speaker.
MADAM SPEAKER: On the point of order, Mr Corbell.
Mr Corbell: Mr Hanson did not say on which date; he asked when, and the Chief

Minister said when. He may not have liked that answer, but the Chief Minister has
said when he became aware, and he is elaborating on that answer.
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MADAM SPEAKER: On the point of order, I cannot direct the Chief Minister on

how to answer the question, but I would draw to the Chief Minister’s attention that there were two
parts to the question: when did he know and what did he do? Chief -

Minister, do you have anything to add to the answer?

MR BARR: Thank you, Madam Speaker. What I am doing is standing up for dignity,
honesty and the respect that family members of members in this place deserve. That is
what I will stand up for. I will stand up for standards in this place that do not stoop to
the gutter. That is what I will stand up for, and I will not stand by and allow the
Leader of the Opposition to bring down the reputation of a good organisation in -
Menslink and to bring down the reputation of a young man who is working so hard to -
rehabilitate his life. It is not fair. This question would not be asked if Lloyd Burch’s
mother was not sitting two chairs down from me. And those opposite ought to reflect
on that, because if that is the way politics is going to be played in this city,.itisa
disgrace. Jeremy Hanson is a disgrace.

Mr Hanson: Madam Speaker, on a point of order.
MADAM SPEAKER: On a point of order.

Mr Hanson: Calling members opposite a disgtace and attacking the opposition is not
an answet.

MADAM SPEAKER: What is the point of order?

Mr Hanson; He needs to be relevant. On what date; when did the minister find out
about this breach of law?

MADAM SPEAKER: I think the Chief Minister is answering the question in a way
that fulfils the requirements of the standing orders. Do you have anything more to say,
Chief Minister? . - '

MR BARR: I have concluded, Madam Spealer,

MADAM SPEAKER: Supplementary question, Mr Hanson.

MR HANSON: Chief Minister, on what date did you become aware of this breach of
the law?

MR BARR: At the same time as other members of the community.

Mr Hanson: Madam Speaker, a point of order on relevance. I asked for a date. To
simply say “when other people became aware” is not answering the question. He is
not being relevant. My question was very specific, asking for a date. If the minister
does not have the exact date, he could take that on notice.
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MADAM SPEAKER: Mr Hanson, I think that is more a debating point. I cannot
. direct the Chief Minister to answer the question in the way that you would like, I think
that that is a debating point. ' '

Mr Hanson: Come on, It is a reasonable question to ask.

MADAM SPEAKER: Don’t talk back to me, Mr Hanson. Supplementary question,
Mr Coe.

MR COE: Chief Minister, on what date, given that you have had a week to consider
this since the story broke, were you first advised of this situation?

MR BARR: I have become aware of this situation at the same time as other members
of the community,

MADAM SPEAKER: A supplementary question, Mr Coe.
MR COE: On what date did the rest of the community become aware of this issue?
. MR BARR: That is something I cannot answer. Some people would be aware

following reading the Canberra Times. Other people would be aware following a
statement from Menslink subsequent to that Canberra Times artticle.
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Minister's son gets suspended sentence

By Christopher Knaus

The son of an ACT government
minister has turned his life around
after he robbed a kcbab shop at
knifepoint last year, using his strug-
gle with drugs to help educate young
Canberrans.

The "dramatic" turnaround of
Lloyd Edwin Burch, 21, son of Labor
MIA Joy Burch, has helped him
avoid time behind bars for the
robbery of the Phillip All Baba in
October last year,

Lloyd Burch was battling drug and
alcohol problems when he robbed
the takeaway store, demanding
money and threatening staff,

As he left, bystanders tackled him
to the ground. He was arrested,
charged with aggravated robbery
and pleaded guilty soon after,

In April, Justice John Burns
deferred sentencing him, to give him

time to show he could rehabilitate
and stay away from drugs and orime.

The court heard on Thursday that
he not only complied with the
conditions of his deferred sentence

“order, but went beyond them,

The young offender had used his
experience to help educate students,
sometimes in groups of hundreds, at
schools across Canberra, -

The speaking program, run by
Menslink, was something he volun-
teered for, not because of any order
of the court.

On Thursday, Justice Burns said:

"It is not often that people who are

given an opportunity to demonsirate
their willingness to turn their-lives
around .. respond with the same
degree of enthusiasm and success
shown by the prisoner," .

He had kept away from drugs and
alcohol, and had not committed any
crime, He planned to study engin-

eering at university, complete his
apprenticeship and continue
speaking at schools,

His barrister, Alyn Doig, said his
parents had seen a dramatic change
in their son in the past six months,

Crown prosecutor Soraya Saikal
acknowledged he had complied
with the order, and that volunteer-
ing with Menslink was a form of
community service.

Justice Burns imposed a sentence
oftwo years and six months' impris-
onment, fully suspended. He was
put on a good behaviour order for
two years, and will be subject to
random drug and alcohol testing.

Lloyd Burch appeared in court in
a wheelchair, due to fractured legs
he'd suffered in an accident,

Justice Burns warned him he
needed to focus on rebuilding his
life, saying it would be "all too easy
to slip back into old habits".
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Mentoring group unaware of conviction

EXCLUSIVE

By Kirsten Lawson
Chief Assembly Reporter

Youth mentoring organisation
Menslink has been fined $2500 for
allowing Education Minister Joy
Burch's son, on bail for aggravated
robbery at the time, into schools
without a Working with Vulnerable
People card.

Ms Burch's son, Lloyd Burch, 21,
visited Canberra high schools to talk
to teenage boys last year with
Menslink's Silence is Deadly pro-
gram, which aims to reduce youth
suicide,

He made the visits while on bail
and awaiting sentencing for his
conviction in April of the 2013 knife-
point robbery of a takeaway store in
Phillip,

He had been given a chance to
turn his life around before senten-
cing in October last year.

Lloyd Burch's volunteer work with
Menslink helped him avoid a lengthy
jail sentence. The judge suspended
his sentence on the basis that he had
not only complied with his deferred
sentence order but gone beyond by
working in schools with Menslink,
where he had "shared his experi-
ences with the deterioration of his

life through drug abuse with stu-
dents".

But the discovery of Burch's ¢on- -

viction came as a shock to many in
Menslink, including the board,
whose then-chairman Peter Clarke
said he and the board had been
"absolutely aghast” at the discovery.
The issue had been brought to the
board's attention only after the sen-
tencing, he said.

Lloyd Burch should not have been
in schools without a Working with
Vulnerable People Card, and given
his conviction he would not have got
one, Rear~-Admiral Clarke, who is
retired from the navy, said.

The board had self-referred the

breach to the Office of Regulatory

Services, and Menslink was then

fined.

Not only had Menslink broken the
law - which requires people to have
a card if they are in schools more
than three days in any four-week
period, or seven days in a year -
Lloyd Burch was not -a suitable
person to take into schools in any
case, given he had not been sen-

tenced or rehabilitated, Rear-
Admiral Clarke said,

Rear-Admiral Clarke had phoned
the principals of the schools Lloyd
Burch visited to explain what hap-
pened and to apologise.

When asked how Lloyd Burch
became involved with Menslink,
Rear-Admiral Clarke said "through
some mechanism" he had got
involved collecting donations at the
Multicultural Festival,

"Affer that I think there was a
discussion, ‘and 1 don't know who
precipitated it, about whether Lioyd
could do some more volunteer work
with Menslink," he said

"The board didn't know anything
about this." _

Rear-Admiral Clarke was con-
cerned about the impact on Mens-
link, given its important work with
young people, and on Lloyd Burch,

“The really sad thing about this is
when we've dealt with our own
culpablhty as an organisation,
there's poor Lloyd Burch sitting out
there on his own. He's been allowed
to break the law with our assistance
and the poor bugger's on a suspen-

1 of 2
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ded sentence. On a whole bunch of
levels, this is a very unsatisfactory
series of events. All I can say in
defence of Menslink ... is as soon as
we found out about. it we took very
quick and very firm action."

The issue has caused significant
angst inside the organisation,

At least one of the people who
went into schools with Lloyd Burch
has resigned in protest in the past
fortnight, and at least one other
person is said to be deeply unhappy.

The men are upset they were
expected to take Lloyd Burch into
schools without being told of his
conviction,

They say they would not have
accompanied him or allowed him to
have contact with teenage school-
boys if they had known.

They knew he was the Education
Minister's son, but the information
wasn't routinely divulged to schools.
They said Lloyd Burch should have
been referred to Menslink's coun-
selling program, not been used as a
role model for teenage boys.

It remains.unclear to what extent,
if any, Lloyd Burch shared his
aggravated robbery conviction story
with school students. .

While Menslink staff say it was not
suitable information to share with
teenage boys. in the program Mens-
link chief executive Martin Fisk
provided a reference for Lloyd Burch
at his sentencing that said he had
spoken with high school and teenage
students - in groups ofup to 300 at
a time, "gbout his spiral into drugs
and the crime he committed”,
"providing a real-life example of the
damage of drug use and other
issues",

Mr Fisk's reference said Lloyd
Burch had volunteered since Febru-
ary 2014 ‘collecting money at a
number of fundraising events"
"When we became aware of his
conviction, we approached Lloyd to

Continued

Education MinjsterJoy‘Burch and her
son, Lloyd, outside court [ast year,
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Burch's son

led to Menslink being fined

From Page 1

speak with students as part of our Silence is
Deadly campaign, as we felt his story would
resonate with young men."

Rear-Admiral Clarke's term  has since
ended and Michael Batenelli has taken his
place as chairman,

"Mr Batenelli said the board had dealt with
the issue as openly and firmly as it could,

"We .., have been very frank and honest.

At no point did we look at each other and
say, 'Let's not tell anyone'," he said.

"We'll stand strong and say that we want
to continue to support people in a safc way
to ensure that we can help change lives."

When asked how Lloyd Burch had come
to be working with Menslink, Mr Batenelli
said: "The CEO made a wrong decision
about engaging that volunteer with the
program. It was just a judgment call.”

Mr Batenelli, also a school principal, said
"it's fairly clear that any principal would say
'no, we don't want that person working on
the site without having a Working ' with
Vulnerable People clearance'."

Mr Fisk declined to comment.

Ms Burch, who was also Children and
Young Person's Minister until this year and

is now Police Minister, launched the Silence
is Deadly campaign just over two years ago,
and in December last year she presented
the group with an award for its program.
The extent of her involvement, if any, with
her son's work with Menslink remains

- unclear,

Ms, Burch has had a horror start to the
ﬁear, with the revélation in January that she |
ad lified the note limit for poker machines
from $20 to $50, sparking an outcry
resulting in the decision being overturned
and Ms Burch being reprimanded by Chief

Minister Andrew Barr,

This week she faced a no-confidence
motion over the affair brought by the
apposition,

Ms Burch did not answer questions about
whether she had any involvement in intro-
ducing her son to Menslink, but said, "It is
a matter of public record that my adult son
Lloyd was a volunteer in the Silence is
Deadly program, a program designed to
encourage boys and young men to seek help
for their problems.

'Any volunteering activity undertaken by
my son is his choice and his responsibility,
and has no bearing on my ministerial
responsibilities.”
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[inister won't answer

questions on son's school visits

By Kirsten Lawson, Emma Macdonald
and Tom Mcllroy

Bducation Minister J oy Burch went to

" ground on Thursday, refusing to

answer questions about her son's
visit to Canberra schools while he
was on bail for aggravated robbery.

Liberal Leader Jeremy Hanson said
Ms Burch had many questions to
answer, "in particular how a con-
victed criminal was allowed into
schools to interact with schoolchil-
dren without a Working with Vulner-
able People clearance",

"The safety of our children must be
the priority and, in this case, for
reasons unexplained, the law has
beenbroken," he said, "The question
is whether this is a systemic problem
and other crimimals are regularly
exposed to schoolchildren, or
whether this particular individual
received special treatment,"

Ms Burch was absent from the
chamber for much of the morning
and a motion she was to bring to set
up an inquiry ou ganiing machines
was put off for the day. But she
appeared at question time, when she
was asked by the Opposition whether
she had given any directions or
guidance to her directorate to facilit-
ate visits by her son to schools, to
which she answered "no",

Lloyd Burch was convicted of
aggravated robbery in April and
given six months to turn his life
around before sentencing, during
which time he was taken on by
Menslink in its Silence is Deadly
program visiting schools to talk to

" teenage boys. His volunteer work and

a reference from Menslink chief
executive Martin Fisk helped him
escape a jail term when he was
sentenced in June,

Mrs Burch has not answered
media questions on whether she
spoke with youth mentoring group
Menslink about helping her son,
beyond saying it was his responsibil-
ity, and had no bearing on her
ministerial responsibilities. Ms Burch
is Minister for Education, and was
Minister for Multicultural Affairs dur-
ing last year's festival.

The issue has left many at Mens-

link unhappy, including the board,
whose then chairman Peter Clarke
said he had been "absolutely aghast”
at the discovery of Lloyd Burch's
criminal conviction.

Menslink says Lloyd Burch
shouldn't have been in schools with

“that background and did not have

the required Working with Vulner-
able People card - a breach that
Menslink self-rep or ted to the Office
of Regulatory Services, which
imposed a $2500 fine on the group.

Staffare unhappy they were expec-
ted to take Lloyd Burch into schools
without knowing about his back-
ground, although they were told he
was the education minister's son,

But a spokesman for Chief Minis-
ter Andrew Barr said it was an
"administrative oversight" and the
matter was closed. "It is unfortunate
for Menslink that there was an
administrative oversight in this case,
but this should not detract from the
excellent work they do with young
men in our community," he said,
dismissing the concern as "media
hysteria”. He was not briefed about
"the private lives of his colleagues’
adult children" and had found out "at

roughly the same time as the rest of
the community”, he said, echoing Ms
Burch's insistence it had "no bearing
on her ministerial responsibilities”,

Menslink's main funding is
through the Community Services
directorate (Mr Barr's portfolio last
year), but the Silence {s Deadly
program received some funding from
the Education Directorate.

On Thursday, education groups
expressed concern and restated their
support for laws that require regular
visitors to a school to have a Working
with Vulnerable People card.

Australian Education Union ACT

branch secretary Glenn Fowler said,.

"Yes, we are concerned that there
appears to have been an omission,

"We expect that legislation to be
complied with, We are concerned
about any situation in which some-
one is on school grounds when that
visit does not comply with the
legislation."

It is unclear what Lloyd Burch
talked to students about,

Menslink staff say his conviction
for aggravated robbery was not the
kind of information shared with

_ school students, but Mr Fisk provid-

ed a reference for him for his October
sentencing in which he said Lloyd
Burch had been speaking since April
"about his. spiral into drugs and the
crime he committed". ‘

A strong supporter ofthe Silence is
Deadly program the principal of
Stromlo High School, Dr Michael
Kindler, said It would be "absolutely
not" appropriate to have young men
speaking about their crimes or drug

use, He pointed to a different group
including reformed drug addicts that
made school visits, which Dr Kindler
said he did not allow in his school
because it "scandalises and dramat-
ises personal experience”. "I strongly
discourage such practice because it
is counter-productive," he said.
"Educating young people is not
achieved through fear of them end-
ing up in such situations,

"Educating young people to deal
with cmotional matters such as
instability, self-harm, anxiety,
depression is best addressed by
people who are properly qualified,”

Stromlo High School was one of
many schools to host a Menslink visit
last year, but Lloyd Burch was not
among the visitors. Dr Kindler said
all of the Menslink team had signed
in and showed their Working with
Vuloerable People documentation,

The team had talked about the need
to speak up and get help, about
friendship and darker issues such as
depression, selfharm and anxiety,

He had been impressed with their
ability to involve large groups of boys
in discussion and it would be a
shame ifthe controversy cast a cloud
over that, he said.

The schools visited by Lloyd Burch
have not been divulged.

Belconnen High School principal
David McCarthy said he strongly
supported the Silence is Deadly
program, which was well run and
saw an increase after each visit in the
number of boys seeking help and
counselling. Lloyd Burch had not
visited with Menslink and the school
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had a very clear policy of checking
Working with Vulnerable People
cards, he said. The director of Cath-
olic Education, Moira Najdecki, -said

the organisation ensured volunteers
obtained the cards in line with the
law, The assistant secretary of the
Independent Education Union's ACT
branch, Carol Matthews, said the law
was providing important protection
for schoolchildren, a message ec-
hoed by the the ACT Council of
Parents and Citizens Associations,

Also on Thursday it emerged that
Mr Fisk provided a second reference
for Lioyd Burch, for his April court
case. In that reference, Mr Fisk said
Lloyd Burch had collected money
twice for Menslink - at the Multicul-

tural Festival in February and at a .
Brumbies match in March, "I was

personally very impressed when he
volunteered for us again in March, as
I understood this was on his own
initiative and not on the recom-
mendation of his family," Mr Fisk
wrote,

PAGE Zof3
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program but she's not alone, writes KIRSTEN LAWSON.

iron gates closed with a
loud clang on Thursday
over the Meunslink affair
and then silence.

N Schools Minister Jo,
Burch responded to questions aﬁout
why her son was appearing in
schools to speak to teenage boys
while he was on bail for aggravated
robbery by saying it had nothing to
do with her ministerial
responsibilities, and he was an adult
and responsible for his own
volunteering.

She has not answered what role
she played, if any, in facilitating his
involvement in the Menslink Silence
is Deadly program.

In stark contrast to his public
admonishment of Burch over pokies
in January, Chief Minister Andrew
Barr also closed the shutters on
Thursday.,

Neither he nor his ministers made
their usual sitting day niedia
appcarances on a sitting day, and he
declined an interview, providing only
written comment through a
spokesman late in the day.

He dismissed the issue as "media
hysteria" and echoed Burch's in
saying it was nothing to do with her
ministerial responsibilities.

Itis difficultto believe Barr does
not understand the seriousness of
the guestions facing Joy Burch, which
makes his spokesperson's final
comment: "he considers the matter
to be closed", while hopeful, ring a
little hollow.

There are problems with the
response.

First, Burch is Educatlon Minister.

Quite apart from the fact thatthe
Silence is Deadlyprogram has been
funded by the education directorate,
there is the factthat her son was in
schools under this program, and in
the view of the Menslink board he
shouldn't have been there,

Second, Lloyd Burch's visits to
schools broke the law,

Menslink, horrified to discover it
had taken him into schools without
the required Working with Vulnerable

Qhe government drew the

People card, reported itself to the
Office ofRegulatory Sendees and’
after an investigation copped a fine
of $2 500,

Lloyd Burch was also an unsuitable
person to be in schools in the view of
Menslink board because he was on
bail for aggravated robbery.

He had been given six months to
turn his life around before
sentencing, with a lengthy jail term
hanging over his head.

Menslink takes Brumbies players
into schools to talk about their
experiences and the need to get
help rather than bottling up
teenage worfies,

Italso takes some young men who
have been through its counselling
programs and come out the other
side - its success stories.

Lloyd Burch was neither. He hadn't
been through a counselling program
and was still before the courts with a
serious criminal conviction, If
Menslink wanted to help Lloyd
Bureh, its staff suggest, it should have

offered him counselling, The issue
has left Menslink trauma tised and
torn apart. Itis by all accounts full of
people who care and doing very
important work. Now, at least one
staff member has left, another is
stressed, the chief executive is under
acloud and the board is "absolutely
aghast”, as the then chairman Peter
Clarke putit this week.

The problem for the Menslink
frontline staff is while they were told
Lloyd Burch was the minister's son,
they were not told of his criminal
conviction.

They wouldn't have taken him into
schoof,s ifthey had known. And
having done so, they feel
undermined and betrayed.:

Chief executive Martin Fisk did
know about Lloyd Burch's courtcase
- he had written a reference for him
at his court appearance in April, and
wrote another in October for
sentencing.

Lloyd Burch's work with Menslink
and the Fisk reference helped him
escape jail, the judge explicitly
pointing to it. Fisk told the judge

Lloyd Burch had spoken confidently
and openly to groups ofboys "about
his spiral into drugs and the crime he
committed”, and described him asa
person who had learned from his
mistakes and had much insightinto
his behaviour,

It seems clear Fisk erred in taklng
on Lloyd Burch in the role and in not
telling his staff about the conviction,

The currentMen sli n k ch ai mi an,
Mchael Battenally, said Fisk had
"made a wrong decision about
cngaging that volunteer with the
program, It was just ajudgment call."
Butthe glaring question is how and

.why did Fisk come into contactwith

Lloyd Burch in the firstplace and
decide to help him out? This is the

-question Ms Burch must address,

Lloyd Burch's work with Menslink
began at the Multicultural Festival
last year, where he collected money
for Menslinkand went on to do the
same ata Brumbies game, then
began the work in schools, Was this
relationship facilitated by his mother,
Mnister Burch?

We don't know because no one will
say, A mother approaching an
organisation or an acquaintance to
help outa son in trouble is nothing
surprising or necessarily
inappropriate,

But when you are a minister of the
governmentand the organisation is
funded by the government, the
premise is utterly different. And
when you are an education minister
with a son improperly in schools
without the required documentation,
the issue is more serious still, -

Ms Burch should answer to the
contact with Menslink and its
decision to help her son.

Fiskis in the firing line for this, but
was he simply responding to a
request?

Menslink is itself deeply troubled

by this question. The board has
written a detailed report for the
Office of Regulatory Services but the
office will not relcase it, citing the
confidentiality ofinformation about
"protected persons” under the
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Working with Vulnerable People Act,
Which means this affair might only
be unravelled with the likes of a
parliamentary inquiry, Which would
need the Greens Shane Rattenbury's
backing, Which would buy him an
almighty row with the Labor
government,

~ There's an irony in the name of the
pro gramthatLloyd B urch was
helping deliver: Silence is Deadly. Its
message is don't be afraid to speak
up; silence will eat away atyou.

Menslink has experienced the
corrosive power of silence since this’
affair surfaced in October until it was
aired this week. .

The government should now to
reverse its determination to close
down this issue and work instead to
uncover the truth,
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Did Burch push
agency to help son?

® econd chances are a crucial aspect of the criminal
justice system, and when Lloyd Burch was offered
) his after falling afoul ofthe law in October 2013, he
: grabbed it with both hands. In April 2014, after
pleadlng guilty in the ACT Supreme Court to a charge of
aggravated robbery, the 20-year-old Mr Burch was told by
Justice John Burns that the short period between arrest and
conviction made an appropriate sentence difficult to assess
at that time. He would therefore defer handing down a
sentence for six months so that a clearer picture might
emerge of Mr Burch's commitment to rehabilitation.

Offered a way of avoiding a custodial term, Mr Burch
threw himself into good works, becoming a volunteer with
Menslink, a support network that counsels and mentors
young men, including school students. After a stint drum-
ming up public donations, Mr Burch thenbecame involved in
Menslink's "Silence is Deadly" program, visiting schools and
talking to audiences aboutthe importance of "male students
seeking help for themselves or a friend in need” if anxious or
depressed. Back in court six months later, Justice Burns
noted approvingly of Mr Burch that "it is not often that
people who are given an opportunity to demonstrate their
willingness to turn theirlives around with the same degree of
enthusiasm and success shown by the prisoner", He imposed
asentence of two years and six months' imprisonment, fully
suspended, and a good behaviour order for two years, during
which time Mr Burch would be subject to random drug and
alcohol testing.

Mr Burch's mother is Education and Police Minister Joy
Burch, afact which makes his redemption no less admirable
or meritorious. However, his story lost some ofits gloss last
week when it emerged that at the time of his high school
visits, Mr Burch lacked the requisite legal clearance to work
with vulnerable people. Indeed, he appears not to have been
subject to abackground check at all, a process which would
have revealed a serious criminal conviction and made a
Working with Vulnerable People card impossible to obtain,

Menslink, which brought the oversight to the attention of
the Office of Regulatory Services and was fined $2500 as a
result, has been embarrassed and chastened by the episode,
not least because there was genéral ignorance within its
ranks about Lloyd Burch's- serious brush with the law. His
political pedigree, however, was a matter of general know-
ledge. Menslink chief executive Martin Fisk apparently knew

the whole story, having written a reference for Mr Burch at
his court appearance in April and another for the sentencing
in October,

Mr Fisk's desire to help a young man get his life back on
track is understandable. But in helping pave the way for Mr
Burch to visit and speak to school students when he was still
awaiting sentencing highlighted some poor judgment. The
Silence is Deadly campaign of 2014 was premised on the
concept that "strong successful men [in this case, Brumbies
footballers] aren't afraid to talk to teammates and get help
when facing tough times", Tt is difficult to see how, at this
time at least, Mr Burch was deemed the right fit for this role.

Whether Minister Burch prevailed upon Menslink directly
or indirectly for help withher son's effort to please the court
is now the subject oflegitimate public interest, despite what
Chief Minister Andrew Barr might assert, When asked'in the
Legislative Assembly last week as to whether she had given
any direction or guidance to ber directorate to facilitate
visits by her son to schools, Mrs Burch answered "no". Mr
Barr has said he considers the matter. closed, But the fact
remains that Ms Burch has still not, despite opportunities to
do so, answered the question of whether she, as mmlster
made representations on her son's behalf.

The government's determination to keep quiet on this
matter and to portray it as "media hysteria" and an un-
worthy story will be tested now by the Liberal opposition's
call for an independent inquiry. They are right to seek an-
swers, The unfortunate damage done to Menslink's reputa-
tion (and that of its unsuspecting staff) is also strong grounds
for an investigation.
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Call for

By Kirsten Lawson
Chief Assembly Reporter

Liberal Leader Jeremy Hanson has
called for an inquiry into the Mens-~
link affair in which Education Minis-
ter Joy Burch's son visited schools
with the youth mentoring group last
year without a Working with Vulner-
able People card,

Mr Hanson said Ms Burch must
answer whether she had any influ-
ence in Menslink's decision to take
on her son, who was on bail and
awaiting. sentencing on an aggrav-
ated robbery charge at the time,
. Lloyd Burch visited schools last year
with the Menslink Silence is Deadly
program, but when the group dis-
covered it had been taking him into
schools without a Working with
Vulnerable People ocard it self-
referred the breach to the Office of
Regulatory Services and was fined
$2500. Mr Hanson said Chief Minis-
ter Andrew Barr should establish an

inquiry, headed by an ex-
judicial officer or similar to
ensure it was transparent,
independent and outside the
political process, free from
any suggestion that it was
politically motivated, so con-
fidence could be restored in
the Education Minister,

Ms Burch should be stood
aside as minister while the
inquiry was done, he said.

"The entirety of this issue needs to
be examined because there are a lot
of interconnecting parts here regard-
ing who knew what and when, and in
particular what the minister knew,
did she use any influence in her
position as an MLA or as education

minister, and what led to these pretty
extraordinary events," Mr Hanson
said. He will move for the inquiry in
the assembly on Wednesday, but to
be carried by the assembly his
motion would need the vote of the
Greens' Shane Rattenbury who is a
minister in the Barr Labor govern-
ment. Mr Hanson has spoken with
people at Menslink and said it was
clear that they were equally con-
cerned about what had happened.
Ms Burch had not provided an
adequate explanation of her role in
an affair that had caused "at the very
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into

least significant reputational dam-
ager to Menslink as an organisation,
which is extremely unfortunate, a
breach of law, and the exposure of

schoolchildren to an individual that
both Menslink and school principals

have said should not have been in -

schools, certainly not without a
working with vulnerable persons
clearance", he said, It was not good
enough for Mr Bamr to declare the
matter closed, with gquestions still
unanswered, "It's clear that the com-
munity deserve a full explanation of
what has occurred, why schoolchil-
dren were put in this situation, why
Menslink breached the law and what
role, if any, or what influence the
minister brought to- bear, given her
conflict of interest."

The affair has left Menslink deeply
unhappy, with staff concerned they
weren't told Lloyd Burch was on bail

for aggravated robbery and they
wouldn't have taken him into schools
to talk to teenage boys if they had
known, and the organisation's board
saying he should not have been in
schools in those circumstances.
Then-chairman Peter Clarke said

he and the board had been "abso- -

lutely aghast" at the discovery and
had phoned the principals of the
schools. Lloyd Burch visited to
explain what happened and to apolo-
gise.

He has written a report on the

affair, which the Office of Regulatory

Services will not release.

Menslink chief executive Martin
Fisk did know about Lloyd Burch's
conviction, and wrote references for

Lloyd Burch in the case, including a
reference for his October court sen-
tencing, where he escaped a lengthy
jail term partly on the basis of his
work with Menslink.

Ms Burch hag refused to respond to
questions about her role, if any, in
facilitating her son's work with Mens-
link, She has said only that the issue
had nothing to do with her minis-

© terial responsibilities. Her son was an

adult and responsible for his own
volunteering, she said.

A spokesman for Mr Barr has
dismissed the issue as an "adminis-
trative oversight" and "media hys-
teria", backing Ms Burch's insistence
that it had no bearing on her
ministerial responsibilities,
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ACT Opposmon fails in bid for inquiry into Menslink breach
involving Education Minister's son

" Updated Wed 18 Feb 2018, 1:52pm

A bid for an independent inquiry into how ACT Education Minister Joy
Buch's son was allowed to visit schools without the appropriate
clearance has falled.

Opposition Leader Jeremy Hanson called for an inquiry to examine how Ms
Burch's son was allowed to volunteer in schools without a valid working with
vulnerable people card.

But the ACT Legislative Assembly voted the motion down, with Greens
Minister Shane Rattenbury calling it an overreach.

Earlier this month local media reported that ACT authorities had fined
mentoring group Menslink $2,500, after it admitted allowing Ms Burch's son PHOTO: Education Minister Joy Burch listens to the

to volunteer at schools last year. Opposition's bid for an inquiry into a controversy
) involving her son, (ABC News)

At the time‘ Lloy'd Burch, 21, was awaiting senten'cing for robbing a fast-food o s 1en sToRY: ACT Minister respon&s over
store at knifepoint to help fund a methamphetamine habit. Menslink breach mvolvlng son

On Tuésday, during a drama-filled question time, Ms Burch addressed the MAP:ACT
ACT Legislative Assembly and took aim at the Canberra Liberals and at .
Fairfax publication The Canberra Times for their reporting of the issue.

Ms Burch said her son first volunteered.for Menslink at [ast year's Multicultural Festival,

She said over the course of the year he then went on to volunteer 10 times at schools, three times more than is allowed,
without a valid pass under the Working with Vuinerable People (Background Checking) Act 2011.

But this morning Mr Hanson said there were questions about Ms Burch's actions and a direct conflict of interest.

"What other convicted offender of a very serious crime in the ACT gets to unlawfully and inappropriately interact on
numerous occasions with ACT schoolchildren, then has a reference written for him at the request of the Education Minister,
that is then used as evidence?" he said.

Yesterday both the Chief Minister and Attorney-General Simon Corbell came to Ms Burch's defence and labslled the issue
"grubby, gutter tactics" from the Canberra Liberals.

But today Mr Rattenbury criticised the Government for going to ground and said they should have answered questions
about the issue earlier.

"I struggle to understand my ALP colleagues a{ times, | don't understand why the approach is to bunker down and not
answer questions when they're asked," he sald.

Mr Rattenbury admitted the rollout of the Working with Vulnerable People program needed to be examined.

Topics: states-and-lemitorfes, government-and-pelitics, crime, schools, act, canberra-2600

First posted Wed 18 Feb 2015, 1:14pm

http://www.abe.net.au/news/2015-02-18/ 6anberra—liberals-bid-for-inquiry-o?er—mensli... 19/02/2615
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Menslink: Burch responds to 'vicious' attack

By Kirsten Lawson
and Tom Mciroy

Education Minister Joy Burch has
made a statement to the ACT
Assembly on the Menslink affair,
admitting that she asked the youth
mentoring group to write a reference
for her son's court case but insisting
her intervention had nothing to do
with her ministerial responsibilities,

"Yes the CEO Jof Menslink] did
provide a reference for my son as he
has provided for many other young
men at the request of the young men
themselves, their families or legal
counsel. The reference provided for
my son was at the request of all
three," she told the assembly.

"On the advice of my son's legal
counsel I approached the CEO on
behalf of my son. It should be noted
.. that this approach was made after

ke started voluntary work with Men-
slink. As noted last week, any volun-
tary activity undertaken by my adult
son is his choice and his responsibil-
ity and has no bearing on my
ministerial responsibilities."

Ms Burch has been undér mount-
ing pressure to explain why her son

Canberra Times, Canberra
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was volunteering in schools with
Menslink last year, talking to groups
of teenage boys, while on bail and
awaiting sentencing for- aggravated
robbery.

Her son, Lloyd Burch, did not have
the required Working with Vulner-
able People clearance and Menslink
was fined $2500 for the breach of the
law, The volunteer work helped
Lloyd Burch escape a jail term at his
senteticing in October,

To date, Ms Burch has refused to
answer questions about what role
she had in facilitating her son's work
with Menslink, but facing Opposi-
tion Leader Jeremy Hanson's call for
an inquiry, to be debated by the
assembly on Wednesday, she made
the statement yesterday. .

Her son had first volunteered for
Menslink at last year's Multicultural
Festival, -

"He had heard of the good work
they do and wanted to see firsthand
how they worked with young people.
This experience led him to want to
talk more with Menslink about his
own challenges. My son met with
their CEO and while I'm not party to

&
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those conversations, they resulted
with my son linking in with Menslink
-and the Silence is Deadly program."

Ms Burch said she never asked or
directed Menslink to take her son
into schools.

He had gone into schools 10 times
last year, The law requires people to
have a Working with Vulnerable
People clearance if they're in schools
onmore than seven days in a year (or
three days in a month).

As a result of the affair, Ms Burch

Contirmed g 2

ek S R AN 3, :
loy Burch approached the Menslink
chief executive on behalf of her sén,
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Menslink: Burch responds to 'vicious' attack

From Page 1

has asked the education directorate
to review the way the law is being
handled.

Question Time descended into bit-
terness and name calling after the
statement, with Ms Burch accusing
Mr Hanson of a "vicious nasty attack",
begun through The Canberra Times
and continued "with high abandon
and absolute venom" by Mr Hanson,

"Jeremy Hanson is a disgrace,” she
said, accusing him of "grubby gutter
tactics" and taking "the lowest chea-
pest nastiest political shot". The Lib-
erals had dragged her son down and
"given him a good old kick in the
gutter”, she said.

"I do find the narrative that has
been created by The Canberra Times
and the Liberals showing politics at
an extremely low ebb," she said.

"Mr Hanson has been on radio

today and in the press describing my
son in the most negative terms .., as
a mother it breaks my heart. There is
no mention of the fact that my son
has gone to great lengths to improve
his life." :

As the assembly rowed over the
issue, Speaker Vicki Dunne
repeatedly called for order, forced
Chief Minister Andrew Barr to with-
draw the word "grub" and Ms Burch
to withdraw the description of the
Liberals as "hypocrites”,

A tearful Ms Burch said her son had
erred, committing a "serious and
horrible" offence but he had turned
his life around and that should be

~ celebrated,

"Twill stand by him, as a son, and as
a young man that has shown against
the odds to pick himselfup and be the
good man that he will be today and
for years to come and damn them to
say any different."

A number of questions -were not
answered. To a question about which
schools her son had visited, Ms Burch
said she would seek advice. She did
not say whether parents had been
contacted, but insisted that at no time
had students been placed at risk.

Mzr Bamr was asked when he became
aware ofthe breach, but despite being
asked numerous times, his only
answer was that he became aware "at
the same time as other members of
the community", Asked when the rest
of the community became aware, he
said it was a question he could not
answer, but for some that would have
been reading about it in The Canberra

Times; for others through statements’

from Menslink.

Asked ‘when she had alerted Mr
Barr to the breach, Ms Burch would
only say it involved her son and was a
personal matter, .

Asked whether anyone else in

trouble with the law had been given
an opportunity to talk to schools in an
effort to reduce a pending sentence,
she said the question was outside her
portfolio. Ms Burch also pointed to a

message that Menslink chairman’

Michael Battenally has posted on the
group's website describing the breach
as "an operational compliance mat-
ter", Mr Battenally also stressed that
students had not been placed at risk,

"This volunteer was accompanied
by a staff member of Menslink at all
times, along with staff from the
schools involved,” he writes. "As a
community organisation, with 12
years of success working with young
people, we are very disappointed this
situation has occurred.” )

Later, Mr Barr, continuing to
describe the breach as an adminis-
trative oversight, said Ms Burch's
response had been open and compre-
hensive.




image24.png
" Education Minister Joy Burch responds to questions about Menslink breach involving ... Page 1 of 2

Education Minister Joy Burch responds to questions about
Menslink breach involving her son

By Ewan Gilhert
Updatad Wed 18 Feb 2015, 7:02am

ACT Chief Minister Andrew Barr and Education Minister Joy Burch
have accused the Canberra Liberals of using "grubby tactics™ and
stooping to new lows, following questions about a recent controversy
involving Ms Burch's son. .

Earlier this month it emerged in local Fairfax media reports that ACT
authorities had fined mentoring group Menslink $2,500, after they admitted
allowing Ms Burch's son to volunteer at schools last year without a valid
working with vulnerable people card.

At the time Lloyd Burch, 21, was awaiting sentencing for robbing a fast food
store at knifepoint in 2013, to help fund a methamphetamine habit.

PHOTO: Education Minister Joy Burch listens to
questlons about a controversy involving her son

. o . P volunteering In schools without & valid permit.
Tomarrow the Liberal Opposition will attempt to move a motion in the (nec News)g P

Legislative Assembly, calling for an inquiry into how Ms Burch's son came to
volunteer in Canberra schools without a permit.

MAP Canberra 2600

But during a drama-filled question time in the ACT Legislative Assembly
today, Ms Burch pre-empted the motion by making an unexpected speech to the Assembly.

In her address she took aim at the Canberra Liberals and at Fairfax publication The Canberra Times for their repomng of
the issue. °

"The narrative that has been created by The Canberra Times and the

Liberals shows politics at an extremely low ebb," she said. ) )
P y At no time did | ask or request

“If this is going to be the tenor of the political tact in this place, where family Menslink to send my son inte
then | think it is a sad indictment of this place. A sad indictment. have | at any time directed my
"There is no mention that fny son has gone to great lengths to improves his staff or officials at ETD [the
life and be a positive member of our community ....he is a good young man." Education and Training

Directorate] to make any

exceptions for my son.
. Education and Training Minlster Joy Burch j
"That should be celebrated. Not this vicious, nasty attack that got started ‘

through The Canberra Times but has been bled with high abandon and : i
absolute venom by [Opposition Leader] Mr [Jeremy] Hanson and the Canberra Liberals," she said. ‘

\
i
I
|
|
|
!
and friends are fair game by the Canberra Liberals and the Canberra Times schools as a volunteer, nor i
i
i
i
i
1
f
|
i

Ms Burch said her son erred, he was sentenced and found wanting, but he
had turned his life around.

"Make no mistake | am not excusing what he [my son] did, it was nothing but serious and horrible.

"But look where he is now. | will stand by him as a son and as a young man that has shown against the odds, [he can] pick
himself up and be the good man that he will be today and for years to come.

"Damned [to those that] say any different.”

Barr, Corbell defend colleague

Both the Chief Minister and Attorney-General Simon Corbell came to Ms Burch's aid when the opposition attempted to use
the remainder of Question Time to repeatedly question the Government over the situation,

"The grubby, gutter tactics of the leader of the Opposition reflects on his character and the character of all of those who
support him ... if this sort of approach is going to dictate how this place is going to run over the next 18 months, it is a new
low for the Legislative Assembly,”" Mr Barr said.

Mr Corbell said the Opposition were calling Ms Burch's son a criminal in the Legislative Assembly for "base polifical

http://www.abc net.au/news/2015-02-17/education-minister-joy-burch-responds-to-qu... 19/02/2015
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advantage".
"She is entitled fo answer the question ... but she is also entitled to defend her family," he said.
Ms Burch sald her son first volunteered for Menslink at last year's Multicultural Festival.

She sald over the course of the year he then went on to volunteer 10 times at schools, three times more than is allowed
without a valid pass under the Working with Vuinerable People (Background Checking) Act 2011.

"Any volunteering activity undertaken by niy adult son is his choice and his responsibility and has no bearing on my
ministerial responsibilities,” she said.

"At no time did I ask or request Menslink to send my son into schools as a volunteer, nor have | at any time directed my staff
or officials at ETD [the Education and Training Directorate] to make any exceptions for my son.”

Burch asked directorate to review systems following breach .

Ms Burch said she had no hesitation in asking the ETD to review their current systems and arrangements as a result of the
breach. : -

"1 have no doubt that other agencies and organisations across Canberra will be also looking at their systems and where
improvements can be made,” she said. ‘

The Canberra Liberals asked Ms Burch whether she sought legal advice on how to deal with the situation, and whether her
position as Education Minister had any bearing on her son's placement with Menslink.

She answered no to each question.

Ms Burch was also asked whether all people with criminal records were given the opportunity to speak in schoals to reduce
their impending sentences.

She responded angrily and was asked to sit down, before replying that the question was out of her remit as Education
Minister.

From other news sltes:
+ Canberra Times: Liberal leader Jeremy Hanson calls for inquiry info Joy Burch Menslink affair

Powered by { bing
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Topics: slates-and-territories, goverhmenband-pc[ﬁics, political-pariies, crime, schools, canberra-2600, act, australia
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*5% ndrew Barr and his
,,éf government made a bad call
when it.decided the Lloyd
Burch affair was a media beat-up.

I'm sure ' not the only one
finding it really hard not to feel
sorry for 21-year-old Burch.

1 think his story should serve as
inspiration for anyone whose life has
run off the rails. Burch got himself into
a pretty bad space, did some really
stupid things, but was given a chance.

" In 2013, Burch, armed with a knife,
held up a takeaway store in Phillip.
He was later arrested and charged
with aggravated robbery. He pleaded
guilty, but ACT Supreme Court Justice
John Burns delayed sentencing to
allow the young man a chance to
show he could be rehabilitated.

It’s fair to say Lloyd Burch

hands, volunteering with male
support network, Menslink.

R s

| Sad S’iOﬂ[ Qf Moyd Burch needs explaining

TR

At first he rattled donor tins for
the organisation, but then later
stepped up his role, visiting schiools
and talking to students as part of
Menslink’s incredibly important
“Silence is Deadly” program.

And that’s where the problems
started. Very few people at
Menslink knew of Lloyd Burch’s

: criminal background. In fact there -
: may have only been one person at
{ . the organisation who knew.

One reason they never new is
that Burch was never subjected to
the usual legal clearances required
to work with vulnerable people.

If he had been tested, he would
never have passed. The whole
episode is incredibly embarrassing
for Menslink and worrying for

the schools.
grabbed the opportunity with both - :

If you havent worked it out
by now, Lloyd Burch is the son of
accident-prone ACT Education and

nneLy

Police Minister, Joy Burch.

It raises ohvious questions about
what role the Minister fnjght have
played, whether she was aware
of what was going on, whether
she understood her son needed
special clearance to work with
vulnerable people.

Unfortunately for Lloyd, this has
guaranteed the Menslink affair is
front page news.

Also unfortunately for Lloyd, the
Barr Government’s decision not to
answer questions, and Joy Burch’s
decision not to answer fully any.
role she may have played, and to
explain her understanding of what
her son was doing, has prolonged
his time in the spotlight.

By refusing to answer questions
it suggests the government,
and Joy Burch in particular, has
sormething to hide.

If the government thinks this is a

WITHROSS SOLLY,
A CANBERRA WAN
IN BANGKOK

non-story, it is being bacly advised. A
20-year-old man, witlh1 a previous drug

problem and awaiting sentencing for -

robbing at knife-point, was allowed

into ACT schools to tallc with students

As a parent, I would be deeply
concerned if my child was one of

. those students.

But also as a parent, [ have a lot
of sympathy for the situation Joy
Burch found herself in. What parent
wouldn’t do whatever they could to
give their child a second chance, a
better life? So longj as no rules were

{ broken. And if there were no rules

broken, Burch needed to make a full
and frank statement straight away

! saying as much.

You can have your say By
emailing politicalcapital@-
canberraweelly.com.au

-

vk
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Watchdog
considers
Menslink
affair

By Kirsten Lawson
Chief Assembly Reporter

The ACT Assembly's commis-
sioner for standards, retired
Supreme Court judge Ken Crispin,
looks likely to investigate the Joy
Burch Menslink affair,

Mr Crispin was appointed early
last year to investigate complaints
‘about Assembly members. This
would be his first investigation. Mr
Crispin has the power to demand
answers from Ms Burch and to ask
for explanations and documents
from anyone else who might have
knowledge of the issue, which
would include youth mentoring
group Menslink,

The likely referral to Mr Crispin
comes after a week of debate over
Ms Burchs role in her son's volun-
teer work in schools under Men-
link's Silence is Deadly program
last year, Lloyd Burch spoke with
groups of teenage boys, while he
was on bail and awaiting senten-
cing for aggravated robbery.

He did not have a Working with
Vulnerable People clearance and
when it learned about his court
case in October a shocked Mens-
link board referred itself to the
Office of Regulatory Services and
was fined $2500.

The volunteer work helped
Lloyd Burch escape a jail term at
his sentencing in October,

Greens member Shane Ratten-
bury sought advice from Assembly
clerk Tom Duncan about whether
Mr Crispin was the right person to
investigate. Mr Duncan replied,
essentially, that any concern about
whether a member had adhered to
the code of conduct was appropri-
ate to refer, providing it was not
judged frivolous or political,

He pointed to the code of
conduct's requirement that mem-
bers not seck "financial or other
benefit for themselves their family
or friends", and a requirement to

Canberra Times, Canberra
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be "transparent in, and account-
able for,  their decisions and
actions” and to "submit them-
selves to appropriate scrutiny" to
resolve conflicts of interest or
perceptions of conflict,

Liberal Leader Jeremy Hanson
also referred to the ministers' code

of conduct which says ministers

must not use their position to gain
a direct or indirect advantage for
themselves, family or acquaint-
ances that would not be available
to the public.

"In this context, 1 ask this

Continued Page 2
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Commissioner may investigate

From Page 1

question," he told the Assembly.
"What other convicted offender of a
very serious crime in the ACT gets to
unlawfully and inappropriately
interact on numerous occasions with
ACT school children, then has a
reference written for him, at the
request ofthe education minister,
based on that interaction with school
children that is then used as evidence

- to support that sentencing hearing.”

Mr Hanson said Ms Burch could
not claim to have nothing to do with
the affair "when you are the
education minister who asked for a
reference from an organisation that
has been funded by her, the minister,
that has been presented awards by
her as the minister, that has had
programs launched by her as the
minister”,

He accused the government of
using threats, denial and evasion to
shut down debate.

Mr Rattenbury also criticised the
government's refusal to answer
questions earlier.

"It's at moments like these, as much -

as I work with them, that I struggle to
understand my ALP colleagues at
times," he said. "I don'tunderstand
why the approach is to bunker down
and not answer questions when

they're asked. I
don't understand
why they fail to
understand the
community's
right to have an
explanation and

to have
questions

Joy Burchsaidshe  answered,"

did not requesta But he said Mr
Hanson's call for

reference.
: a wider inquiry
under the Inquiries Act was an
overreach. Mr Rattenbury pointed to
a statement from Menslink board
chairman Michael Battenally emailed
to all members ofthe Assembly on
Wednesday morning, in which Mr
Battenally set out the position of
Menslink chief executive Martin Fisk,
According to Mr Battenally's
statement, Mr Fisk said he had
"approached Lloyd Burch directly to
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talk in schools, after learning of his
sentencing deferral”,

"At no point in time did Minister
Burch or her staff approach Martin
Fisk or any other Menslink staff or
Board member to reguest her son be
involved in the school-based
programs conducted by Menslink."

While Mr Battenally's statement is
clear that Ms Burch did not request
her son's involvement in the school

program, it is not clear on what other
contact she had with Menslink.

Ms Burch said this week she did ask
Mr Fisk to write a reference for her
son's court case.

"The fact that there is nothing to
see here might be dlsappomtmg for
the opposition and it might be
disappointing for a journalist or two
but frankly enough is enough on this
one," he said,

"The witchhunt is over, itis done,
gone, forgotten,”

Deputy Simon Corbell said he had
never before seen a member's family
dragged into the political debate in . :
such a "tawdry, vils and reprehensible
manner”,

"In the Labor Party we stick by each
other," he said. "Because we know
who our colleagues are and we know
that when they say they didn't do
something they didn't do it."

Ms Burch also relied heavily on Mr
Battenally's statement to back her
position that she did nothing wrong,

"Thave nothing to answer other
than being a mother whose son
needed help and gratefully,
thankfully, Menslink were able to
provide that to my son," Ms Burch
said, v )

Mr Hanson is preparing a referral to
Mr Crispin, which will need to be
considered by Speaker Vicki Dunne.
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ttorney-General Simon Corbell, left, with Educallon Minister Joy Burch and Chlef Minister Andrew Barr in the Lagislative Assembly this week. Photo: Jeffrey Chan

‘In the Labor Party we stick by each other," Labor deputy Siman Corbell told the Assembly this week. "Because we know who our colieagues are and
we know that when they say they didn't do something they didn't do it."

What can he have meant? It was just one of the puzzling aspects of a highly vitriolic and bitter week in the Assembly as the Liberals went on the
offensive over revelations that Education Minister Joy Burch's son had been in schools talking to groups of teenage boys 10 times last year without the
required Working with Vulnerable People clearance and while on bail and awaiting sentencing for aggravated robbery,

Corbell surely wasn't saying the party was backing Burch simply because she claimed no wrongdoing in the case and was a member of the Labor
Party, Perhaps Burch has provided the answers to her colleagues that she has not yet provided to the public but, unti! she does explain her role fully,
the questions remain.

In short, did she facllitate her son's involvement in the youth mentoring group and why did Menslink take him on In & role that all agree he should never
have been? Were these random errors of judgment on the part of Menslink chief Martin Fisk, who knew Lloyd Burch was the minister's son, or was
Fisk acting in a misgulded attempt to help the minister?

NG one has questioned Lioyd Burch's right to seek help from Menslink when the courts gave him a chance to turn his life around but staff say
counselling was the right avenue, not being held up in front of teenagers as a role model. No one would question a mother's desire to seek help for a
son In trouble but Joy Burch must abide by the members' and ministers' codes of conduct which say members should aveid conflicts of interest, actual
or percelved, and should not seek "financlal or other benefit for themselves their family or friends”, nor use thelr position or information gained in the
performance of their duties to gain an advantage, direct or indirect, for themselves or famiiles that is not available also to the public.

IThe codes of conduct also require members to be transparent in thelr declsions, and accountable for them, submitting themselves to "appropriate
scrutiny".

In this context, the Labor Party's determination to shut down debate, attack the media for bringing the story to light and attack the Liberal oppos;tlon
with an extraordinary ferocity for pursuing the Issue Is surprising. Rarely does the Assembiy reach such levels of aggression.

Chief Minister Andrew Barr says the story is "grubby" and with social media venting against the Canberra Times from Joy Burch's office, {he aim has
been to characterise the story as an attack on a young man trying to get his life right and a good organisation, and a preparedness to drag families into
nolitics.

It's difficult to know whether this is political spin or a genuine belief but, talking to Barr's office, you would say the latter. They seem to belleve thisis a
minor administrative oversight, being callously and unthinkingly exploited for a headline. -

http /'www.canberratimes.com.aw/comment/vitriol-dominates-act-assembly-over-burc... 23/02/2015
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It's a bellef that not only ignores the angst inside Menslink, but also ona of the fundamentals of good government — that familles of politicians should
not gain an unfair advantage. Whether Lloyd Burch has received special treatment we still do not know.,

We do know a lot more tha‘n we did a week ago, when Barr insisted baldly that Joy Burch did no wrong and declared the matter closed. He did the
same at the end of this week, describing the accusation as wild, the issue as "a stinking dead cat” and declaring "enough is enough. "There is nothing
to see here," he sald, "... The witeh hunt is over, it Is done, gone, forgotten.”

Greens Minister Shane Rattenbury was perplexed at his approach, telling the Assembly that he struggled, at times, to understand the party he works
so closely with, " don't understand why the approach is to bunker down and not answer questions when they're asked," he said. ‘| don't understand
why they fail to understand the commumty s right to have an explanation and to have questions answered."

Rattenbury was nevertheless satisfied by the explanation finally given by Joy Burch and a statement released on Wednesday by Menslink, which both
said that at no time had Burch asked Menslink to include her son in the schocl-based pragram.

Which clears up one question, but not the other: did Burch ask Menslink to help her son? She has already admitted to asking Menslink for a reference
for his court case and If the Menslink relationship was facllitated by Burch, she needs to say so and explain how that Is consistent with the members'
code of conduct, The explanation might well be reasonable, but who can say without hearing it?

Remember, Lioyd Burch's WQrk In schools has left Menslink divided and aghast at its part In allowing a person on bail for aggravated robbery into
schools without the required Working with Vulnerable People clearance (a clearance Menslink says he would not have got had he applied), without the
staff alongside him knowing of his conviction, and with differences of opinion over what, precisely, he told the boys. Menslink was fined $2600. it is not
ia trivial matter of missing paperwork.

It remains baffling why Barr won't say when he was first alerted to the breach. "l became aware around the same time as other members of the
community," he told the Assembly and, despite repeated questions, would not be more specific, instead filibustering with attacks and polnts of order.

Eventually the Liberals came to the question: "On what date did the rest of the community become aware of this issue?" To which Barr answered,
"That [s something | cannot answer. Some people would be aware following readmg the Canberra Times. Other people would be aware following a
statement from Mens[ink subsequent to that Canberra Times article.”

It's an answer that implies but doesn't say, that he only just became aware In the past week or so, desplte suggestions from Menslink that Barr was
alerted after Lloyd Burch was sentenced in October. That was just one of the questlons the government falled to answer.

[The obfuscation Is inexplloéble and pointless, and suggests a preference for aggressive, bullish attack than simple explanation and accountability. To
what can this be attributed? Is this Labor "sticking by each other"? Or do Barr and his team really believe what they said so vehemently, that this is a
gutter issue about which only the grubbiest would dare to ask questions? .

The Menslink affair now looks likely to be referred to retired Supréme Court judge Ken Crigpin who, as the Assembly's Commissioner for Standards,
would be embarking on Its first investigation.

Crispin has the authority to request statements and documents from anyone he believes relevant, and people will be reminded of provislons of the
Criminal Code "which Impose criminal liabllity for the provision of false or misleading information to a person exercising a function under a territory law
or the production of false or misleading documents",

While it appears these provisions don't specifically apply to his investigation, he clearly Intends to ensure he gets honest and complete informatlion, As
fa Judge, he Is unlikely to be easily satisfied by qualified statements or coyly worded explanaﬂons

IAt the helght of his anger, Barr declared bipartisanship between Labor and Liberal destroyed. "Any bipartisanship on almost any issue Is going to be
wvery difficult in the coming period,” he said on Thursday. But by Friday, bipartisanship was restored, it seems, with the major parties teaming up to
boost public funding for pames fourfold and abolish the limit on how money organisations can donate.
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The Hon Dr Ken Crispin, QC
Commissioner for Standards
Legislative Assembly for the Australian Capital Territory
PO Box 3117

TUROSS HEAD NSW 2537

gé’{@?ﬂ\

Dear Dr 91”37{)111

I have received a request from the Leader of the Opposition, Mr Hanson, to refer a matter to
you in relation to the alleged conduct of a Member of the Legislative Assembly in accordance
with Continuing Resolution SAA.

As you are aware, before I refer a matter to you, [ need to be satisfied on reasonable grounds
that:

(1) there is sufficient evidence as to justify investigating the matter; and

(2) the complaint is not frivolous, vexatious or only for political advantage.

Complaint against Ms Buich

Having considered the letter of complaint from Mr Hanson, I believe that the complaint
regarding Ms Burch should be referred to you for investigation. I attach a copy of Mr
Hanson’s letter and its attachments for your information.

Complaint against Mr Barr

As you can see from the letter from Mr Hanson, he has also lodged a complaint against Mr
Barr. Having considered the matter I have decided that there are not reasonable grounds to
refer that matter,,

I will write to Mr Hanson indicating that I have referred one of his complaints to you. I

understand that you will write to Ms Burch in accordance with the protocol agreed to
between yourself and the Standing Committee on Administration and Procedure.

Yours sincerely
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Vigki Dunne, MLA
Speaker
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